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ABBREVIATIONS

Gk

In this annual report, the following abbreviations have the following meanings unless otherwise specified:

RAFHRA  RXEZFAEIN

“BCFC” or “Club”
[BCFCJ gk [ Bk |

“Board”
==
“Cambodia”
[RIEZE ]
“Company”

[ARRA]

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Group”
[R&EE]

“Hong Kong”
[& %]

“Hong Kong Companies Ordinance”
=S EPNSIEES

“Listing Rules”
[ Em Al

“PRC” or “China”
[ B

“SFO”
(7875 KR R B)

“Share(s)”
[ A& 17 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bgk 52 P

“UK?
[5EE ]

TH AR A TORE

Birmingham City Football Club PLC, the principal subsidiary of the Group
Birmingham City Football Club PLC * &"N&EE 7 = EH B A A

the Board of Directors of the Company
RKRAFIZESRE

the Kingdom of Cambodia
RIEREE

Birmingham Sports Holdings Limited
BAMEEERARLDF

the director(s) of the Company

ARRIZESR

the Company and its subsidiaries
RAT REMER A

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
R BB R RTT B2

Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BB EDIE622F R ARG

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

B A EWAR A

the People’s Republic of China
HEE A RILA

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
EREVENMEC(CEF RAEED)D

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
RRAFIRAHEREEC.ONVET 2 EER

the holder(s) of the Shares
Mz F5E A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EABMARIMARLDR

the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland
KA EE K A6 & /R B B A £ 2
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

| am pleased to take this opportunity to present to the Shareholders
the annual report of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2022.

PERFORMANCE AND RESULTS

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 30 June 2022 was
approximately HK$220.9 million (2021: approximately HK$165.0
million), representing an increase of approximately 33.9% as
compared with the corresponding period in the previous year. The
loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 30
June 2022 was approximately HK$40.7 million (2021: approximately
HK$74.2 million).

BUSINESS PROSPECT AND LOOKING FORWARD

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group in principal engaged
in three reportable business segments, namely (i) operation of a
professional football club in the UK and other related business; (ii)
investment in properties; and (iii) healthcare and medical related
business (“Healthcare Business”).

(i) Football club

Following a finish at the 18th position in the English Football
League Championship Division for the season 2020/21, the
Club continued to play in the highly competitive Championship
Division in the season 2021/22. It was the 11th season in
which the Club was playing in the Championship Division and
was finished at the 20th position. The management is keen to
improve the overall game play performance of the Club and
will continue to provide full support to the Club with an aim to
achieve higher ranking in the league in the season 2022/23.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

(Continued)

BUSINESS PROSPECT AND LOOKING FORWARD (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Investment in properties

The Group has invested in certain residential and commercial
properties in Phnom Penh, Cambodia. The investment of
properties secured a stable stream of income for the Group.

According to the World Bank’s Cambodia Economic Update in
June 2022, Cambodia’s economy is projected to grow by 4.5%
in 2022, the management is optimistic to upcoming recovery
in local economy and believes the long-term appreciation in
value of the investment properties can bring values to the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole. The management
will continue to explore investment potential opportunities in
properties-related business segment.

Healthcare Business

The medical service group principally comprises the provision
of medical consultation and healthcare and wellness referral
related services in Japan. With the impact of China’s growing
aging population becoming more pronounced and the
proportion of middle-class families in China increases, the
market demand for high-end medical products and services
will set to arise. The Group believes that there is enormous
potential for future growth in the medical services market. The
management is keen on gradually building a reputable medical
service business segment based on medical industry resources,

supported by high-end medical services, and with its own
technologies and talents as the core.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

(Continued)

BUSINESS PROSPECT AND LOOKING FORWARD (Continued)

Throughout the year under review, the world economy has been
picking up progressively when most of the countries have made a
shift from strict lockdown to opening up their borders and gradually
resume their business activities to normal. The overall economic
environment, however, has yet to recover back to the level before the
novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic outbreak. The emergence
of different variants of COVID-19 continues to pose threats to the
recovery of world economy, the recent Russian-Ukraine conflict and
the intensified political and economic tension between China and the
United States have induced many more uncertainties and disruptions
to the business environment.

Looking forward to 2022/23, while the management of the Group
is cautiously optimistic for the coming year, facing with the possible
disturbances and challenges ahead, we will stay vigilant and continue
to adopt a cautious and disciplined approach in managing the
businesses of the Group.

The management will continue to look for investment opportunities
around the world in a prudent and proactive manner so as to expand
the business portfolio of the Group. The management is strive to
identify suitable opportunities with potential which can bring value to
the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
thank all Shareholders, investors, bankers and business partners for
their continuing trust and support. | would also like to express my
sincerest gratitude to my fellow Directors, the management team and
all staff members for their strenuous efforts and contribution during
the past year.

Zhao Wengqing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 September 2022

ETE®E

()

EBAERAREE (&)

REEDBETE  HREEEZSOH K3
HERELRERENTRBRE AFANE
B MEAXEBEELMELESR - A+ B
B 4B IR 5 (M AR IR = 3778 7% 5 (COVID-19)
ARITIREE A 2 /K F - COVID-1971 A & f&
RS R IR 4 A A SR A O 18 B A AR R
Z T HIME B EE kR EZ BBUAFILE
ZRBAMNE  FRESTHEMEREER
REMNTE -

RE2022/23% - REAKEEEE Y KF
FHREELEREE  BHRRTELENTE
MBKE - HPIERIFEY  BERIEER
BRENHFAEERAEBMMER -

BB B AFIEMEBE T A SRR
BRERE  WBAAKEZEXBKES - BH
BENSHRABINAERE  RAKER
RS REBEEE -

&)
AABRREFSHURERHZEBRR
BREE  FRBOREEHFBEHERMANE
HEERSH - AANEUBREAESESL
A EBRBEEBREEZEBEINBE—FMAH
HE RS RER

TE
HE

EFB 0 202299 A30H

#£ 3% ANNUAL REPORT 2022




B 8

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PERFORMANCE AND RESULTS

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the revenue of the Group was
approximately HK$220.9 million (2021: approximately HK$165.0
million), representing an increase of approximately 33.9% as
compared with that for the year ended 30 June 2021.

The Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$40.7 million for the year ended 30 June 2022,
representing a decrease of approximately 45.2% as compared to the
loss of approximately HK$74.2 million for the year ended 30 June
2021. The decrease in loss was mainly due to (i) absence of loss on
extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments; (ii) decrease
in loss arising on fair value change on investment properties;
(i) decrease in impairment loss on right-of-use assets; and (iv) the
gain on compensation from the football club segment in the UK
receivable under the profit and loss sharing arrangement between
the Company and a non-controlling shareholder of major subsidiaries
of the Group pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement dated 9
October 2020; and these favourable factors were partly offset by
() the significant decrease in profit on transfer activities of players;
(i) absence of gain on disposal of subsidiaries; (i) absence of fair
value gain on derivative financial instruments; and (iv) the increase in
foreign exchange loss during the year.

The basic loss per share was approximately HKO0.21 cent (2021:
approximately HK0.40 cent).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group is principally
engaged in three reportable business segments: (i) operation of
a professional football club in the UK and other related business;
(ii) investment in properties; and (iii) the Healthcare Business.

EEENWE DN

RERER

B E2022F6H30H It FE - A& EH &%
5 U 25 #9220,900,00078 JT (20214 : 4
165,000,000/ L) @ & & £20214F6 301
IEFEHEI14933.9% °

H E2022F6A30B L FE A& BB
NN B HEE A FE L B 18 4940,700,000%
TC BEE2021F6 A30H I FE 2 EELN
74,200,000/ TTik 2 #045.2% - EiER D E
BHNTEUERS T EEGRESRAaEEE:
(IR EMERATFELEHMEEZEEBRD
(ifEAEEEZREBERY  R(iviREAR
B A2020F 10 A9H Z IR B - ANQ A)
AEBETENBE AR ZIEZERBE 2218
HOBLTHTHREZ ZERRE DI B ZH
Bl mMzxEEMNEZITDWAFE[BK
BEeES) 2 HFIKER D 5 ()L EHEW
BARzWE : (TETESMT A ZRAF
BEURES ¢ K (iv)FME 5 18 18 hn AT K 8 -

FREAREIEL0.2178 1L (20214 : £70.40
L) o

EREERATR

RE E2022F6 8308 ILFEHIMK - KAER
FTEREZHAUAZMELE DI 2RI BOHR
HEEELEBE RRRERE R EMAERER (i)
WERE  Ri)REET -

BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED B8 5 R EMR A A



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT (Continued)

(i)

Football club

The Group operates Birmingham City Football Club (i.e. BCFC
or the Club) in the UK. Revenue streams of BCFC comprised
(i) match day receipts which consisted of season and match
day tickets; (i) broadcasting income, including distributions of
broadcasting revenue from the English Football League (the
“EFL”), cup competitions, solidarity payment from the Premier
League and revenue from the media; and (iii) commercial
income which comprised sponsorship income, corporate
hospitality, conferences and events and other sundry income.

During the season 2021/22, the Club was in the EFL
Championship Division and finished at the 20th position. The
Club continues to play in the EFL Championship Division in the
season 2022/283. At the date of this report, the Club stood at
the 17th position.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the UK government had
lifted a number of coronavirus related restrictions. Fans were
allowed to attend football matches and the commercial activities
were substantially back to normal. The management is keen to
improve the overall game play performance of the Club and will
continue to provide support to the Club with an aim to achieve
higher ranking in the league in the new season.

The Birmingham City Football Academy (the “Academy”)
operates as a Category 2 Academy for the season 2022/23
under the Elite Player Performance Plan. The Academy has
a clear pathway that exists from our Academy to our first
team and remains committed to producing players capable of
competing for places in the senior squad. Through a clearly
defined strategy, strong culture and age specific coaching
curriculum, the Academy staff will utilise all available resources
to progress players through the development phases and meet
the goal.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT (Continued)

(i)

Viimes ., = Ao woem =

Football club (Continued)

On 9 October 2020, the Company and Oriental Rainbow
Investments Limited (“Oriental Rainbow”), a non-controlling
shareholder of the Club and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
ultimate beneficial owner of a substantial Shareholder, entered
into a shareholders’ agreement, pursuant to which, among
others, Oriental Rainbow undertook to the Company that in
the event the football club business segment incurs a loss
after taxation (the “Loss”) for the financial years ended 30 June
2021 and 2022 and the financial year ending 30 June 2023
respectively in which the Club does not compete in the English
Premier League, Oriental Rainbow shall pay a compensation to
the Company equivalent to the Company’s share of the Loss in
full (“Profit and Loss Sharing Arrangement”). For details, please
refer to the announcement and circular of the Company dated
9 October 2020 and 17 November 2020, respectively. During
the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company recorded a football
club segment compensation of approximately HK$201.3 million.

The Company has been informed by a substantial Shareholder
holding approximately 23.53% of the issued share capital of
the Company that he has agreed to dispose of all of the issued
share capital of Birmingham City PLC (“BCP”) beneficially
owned by him (approximately 21.64% of the issued capital
of BCP). To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, the
completion of the transaction is still pending for the approval by
EFL as at the date of this report.

& JI. § .
A
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Investment in properties

The Group holds certain residential apartments and commercial
properties in Phnom Penh, Cambodia. All the properties are leased
out to secure a stable stream of income for the Group. During the
year ended 30 June 2022, the Group recorded rental income of
approximately HK$28.2 million from the investment properties.

As at 30 June 2022, investment properties of the Group were
stated at fair value and amounted to approximately HK$477.6
million (2021: approximately HK$482.0 million) representing
approximately 46.9% (2021:
assets of the Group.

approximately 44.8%) of the total

Healthcare Business

Healthcare Business principally comprises the provision of
medical consultation and healthcare and wellness referral
related services in Japan and the sales of health-related
products. Customers are mainly from oversea seeking medical
services such as health checks, medical diagnosis and
treatments in Japan and distributors and retailers of health-
related products. During the year ended 30 June 2022, the
Group recorded income of approximately HK$1.0 million from
this business segment.
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B 12

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2022 was
approximately HK$220.9 million (2021: approximately HK$165.0
million), representing an increase of approximately 33.9% over the
same period last year.

The revenue from the football club segment for the year ended 30
June 2022 was approximately HK$191.7 million (2021: approximately
HK$127.4 million), representing an increase of approximately 50.5%
compared with the corresponding period in 2021. The increase was
primarily contributed by the growth in commercial income and match
day receipts.

The revenue derived from the investment properties for the year
ended 30 June 2022 was approximately HK$28.2 million (2021:
approximately HK$28.2 million), all of which was the rental income
from the premises of the Group.

The revenue derived from the Healthcare Business for the year
ended 30 June 2022 was approximately HK$1.0 million (2021:
approximately HK$5.9 million).

BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED HAMEEERERAT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Operating Expenses

Operating expenses incurred during the year ended 30 June
2022 were approximately HK$465.6 million (2021: approximately
HK$427.1 million), representing an increase of approximately 9.0%
over the same period in 2021. The increase in operating expenses
was mainly attributable to higher operating expenses of the Club.

Other Income

Other income during the year ended 30 June 2022 was
approximately HK$12.7 million (2021: approximately HK$16.3 million)
which was approximately 22.1% lower than that during the year
ended 30 June 2021. The decrease mainly represented decline in
government subsidies received by the various operating units of the
Group.

Other Gains and Losses, Net

Other gains and losses for the year ended 30 June 2022 recorded
a gain of approximately HK$6.7 million (2021: loss of approximately
HK$3.7 million). Other gains and losses mainly include (i) insurance
compensation arising on business interruption caused by COVID-19
was approximately HK$28.7 million; (i) loss arising on changes in fair
value of investment properties of approximately HK$4.4 million; and
(iii) the foreign exchange loss was approximately HK$17.0 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Football Club Segment Compensation

Football club segment compensation represented the compensation
income of approximately HK$201.3 million pursuant to the Profit and
Loss Sharing Arrangement recorded by the Company for the year
ended 30 June 2022 (2021: nil).

Profit on Sales of Players’ Registration

Profit on sales of players’ registration for the year ended 30 June
2022 was approximately HK$33.2 million (2021: approximately
HK$276.9 million). The decrease was mainly because lower revenue
from sales of players were generated during the year ended 30 June
2022.

Administrative and Other Expenses

Administrative and other expenses for the year ended 30 June
2022, which included mainly depreciation charges, professional
fees, staff costs and office overheads, decreased by approximately
29.4% to approximately HK$35.4 million as compared to that of the
corresponding period in the 2021. The management will continue
to adopt stringent measures on control and management so as to
maintain the administrative and other expenses at a reasonable level.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Finance Costs

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group incurred finance
costs of approximately HK$25.4 million (2021: approximately
HK$30.7 million), representing a decrease of approximately 17.3%
as compared to the corresponding period in the previous year. The
decrease was primarily due to the decrease in borrowings costs as
compared to the corresponding period last year.

Contingent Liabilities

Other than disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements of this report, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2022.

Capital Commitments

As at 30 June 2022,
commitment (2021: nil).

the Group had no significant capital

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Financial Ratios

As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s current ratio (calculated as current
assets divided by current liabilities) was approximately 80.2%
(2021: approximately 51.2%) and the gearing ratio (calculated as
total borrowings divided by equity attributable to owners of the
Company plus total borrowings) was approximately 41.7% (2021:
approximately 35.4%). The ratio of total liabilities to total assets of
the Group was approximately 78.1% (2021: approximately 71.7%).

Financial Resources

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flows, bank borrowings, loans from substantial Shareholders
and from independent third parties, and through the capital
market available to listed companies in Hong Kong. As at 30 June
2022, the Group has bank balances and cash (including bank
deposits, pledged bank deposits, and cash and cash equivalents)
of approximately HK$35.7 million (2021: approximately HK$44.8
million), which were principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
Pounds Sterling, Renminbi and Japanese Yen. As at 30 June 2022,
the Group had total borrowings of approximately HK$349.1 million
(2021: approximately HK$293.8 million), with approximately HK$74.8
million repayable on demand or within one year, approximately
HK$212.8 million repayable after one year and within two years,
approximately HK$61.0 million repayable after two years and
within five years and approximately HK$0.5 million repayable after
five years. About 66.75%, 29.06%, 3.93% and 0.26% of these
borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Pounds
Sterling, Renminbi and Japanese Yen, respectively. All borrowings
were at fixed interest rates.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
(Continued)

Financial Resources (Continued)

The management endeavours to enhance the financial strengths of
the Group so as to pave the way for future business development.
Cost control measures have already been put in place to monitor the
day-to-day operational and administrative expenses.

The management closely reviews the financial resources of the
Group in a cautious manner and continues to explore opportunities
in external financing and equity funding. The Company will take
proactive actions to improve the liquidity and financial position of
the Group by way of equity fund raising exercises. The Company will
closely monitor the market situation and take prompt actions when
such opportunities arise.

Directors’ Opinion on Sufficiency of Working Capital

As at 30 June 2022, the current liabilities of the Group exceeded
current assets by approximately HK$88.0 million (2021:
approximately HK$267.0 million). Ability of the Group to continue
as a going concern depends on the financial resources presently
available to the Group. Taking into account the expected financial
performance, net cash expected to be generated from the operation
of the Group and the available loan facilities, the Directors believe
that the Group is able to fully meet its liabilities as and when they fall
due and to carry on its business without a significant curtailment of
operations for the foreseeable future.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Exposure of the Group to foreign currency risk mainly relates to
its operation in the UK, the PRC and Japan and its investment in
Cambodia, in which transactions, assets and liabilities are mostly
denominated in Pounds Sterling, Renminbi, Japanese Yen and US
dollars. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments
to hedge its foreign currency risks. The management will continue
to monitor its foreign exchange exposure and take appropriate
measures if needed.

Pledge of Assets

As at 30 June 2022, certain bank credit facilities made available to
BCFC were secured by a fixed charge over a specific bank deposit
account of BCFC held with the bank. The balance on this bank
deposit account was GBPO0.8 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$7.6 million) (2021: GBP0.8 million which was equivalent to
approximately HK$8.6 million). In addition, the Group’s transfer
fee receivable from other football clubs with a carrying amount of
GBP5.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$47.6 million) as at
30 June 2022 (2021: GBP15.0 million, equivalent to approximately
HK$161.3 million) were pledged to secure bank borrowings of the
Group.

Save for the above, the Group had not charged other assets to
secure its borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
(Continued)

Capital Structure

As at 30 June 2022, the Company had an issued capital
of 19,288,998,508 shares of HK$0.01 each in issue (2021:
19,288,998,508 shares).

Use of Proceeds

On 7 June 2021, the Company completed the disposal of
Birmingham City Stadium Ltd. The net proceeds from the disposal
were approximately HK$116.0 million (“Net Proceeds”), of which
approximately HK$103.5 million was utilised during the year ended
30 June 2021 as disclosed in the annual report of the Company for
the same year. During the year ended 30 June 2022, the remaining
balance of the Net Proceeds of approximately HK$12.5 million was
used as general working capital. The Net Proceeds were fully utilised
and were applied in accordance with the planned use. For details,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 31 March
2021 and 7 June 2021.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group employed on
average approximately 270 full time employees and approximately
110 temporary staff members in Hong Kong, the PRC, the UK
and Japan (2021: approximately 320 full time employees and
approximately 60 temporary staff members) and the total staff costs
(including share-based payments expense) of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$377.0 million (2021: approximately HK$369.9
million). The Group recognises the importance of high calibre and
competent staff and continues to provide remuneration packages
to employees mainly based on industry practices and individual
performance. In addition, the Group provides other employee
benefits including medical insurance, training subsidy, discretionary
bonus and participation in the share option scheme of the Company.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is principally engaged in the operation of a football club in
the UK, properties investment in Cambodia and Healthcare Business
in Japan. The management has identified the following factors that
could affect the result of the Group’s business. In addition to those
shown below, there may be other risks which are not known to the
Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)
Outbreak of Diseases

The Group’s business could be adversely affected by the outbreaks
of contagious diseases such as COVID-19, Monkeypox or other
diseases that may affect the livelihood of people. Travel restrictions
and quarantine control may negatively affect the economic demand
of commodities and productivity of the workforce, which may
adversely affect the financial performance and financial position
of the Group. The lingering outbreak of diseases have brought
uncertainties in the Group’s operating environment and might impact
the Group operations and financial position.

Business Risk

The Group is exposed to the change in global economic conditions
as well as the industrial and geographical markets in which it
operates. As a result, the Group’s financial condition and results
of operations may be influenced by the fluctuation of the global
economy or a specific market or economy. Any significant adverse
change in the economy in the global or regional or a specific
economy could materially affect the Group’s financial condition or
results of operations.

Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to financial risks relating to interest rate,
foreign currency, credit and liquidity risk in its ordinary course of
business. Moreover, the Group is also exposed to potential impact
of currency fluctuations on translation of its principal operating units’
results which are denominated in currencies different to the Group’s
reporting currency. For further details of such risks, please refer to
note 6 to the notes to the consolidated financial statements of this
report.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential that our Group will be unable to meet
obligations of the loan agreements. Any failure to comply with
the terms and conditions of the loan agreements may constitute
events of default. If an event of default occurs, lenders may declare
any commitment under the loan agreements to be cancelled and/
or declare all outstanding amounts together with interest accrued
thereon and all others sums to be immediately due and payable or
payable on demand. To reduce the risk, the Group (i) pays attention
and monitors closely to ensure the compliance of the terms and
conditions of the loan agreements; and (i) actively monitors cash
flows and ensures sufficient cash level is in place to meet operation
needs and commitment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group
has complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. During the year ended 30 June 2022, there
was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet its
immediate and long-term business goals. During the year ended 30
June 2022, there had been no significant dispute between the Group
and its employees, customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. In order to reduce
the degree of environmental damage when developing the Group’s
business, the Group strictly complies with the local laws, rules and
guidance in relation to environmental protection.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this report, up to the date of this report,
there was no significant event relevant to the business or financial
performance of the Group that come to the attention of the Directors
after the year ended 30 June 2022.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of Directors as at the date of this annual
report, are set out below:

Mr. Zhao Wenqing
Executive Director and Chairman of the Board

Mr. Zhao, aged 55, joined the Company as an Executive Director
on 15 October 2016 and is the Chairman of the Board. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Zhao holds
a Bachelor of Engineering degree from Beijing University of Iron
and Steel Technology (now known as “University of Science and
Technology Beijing”) and a Master of Engineering degree from
University of Science and Technology Beijing in the PRC. Mr. Zhao
had worked as the head of risk management department and the
chief accountant in Beijing Centergate Technologies (Holding) Co.,
Ltd. (b 2= AP B &R 3 ROEE R (9 B IR A 7)) (Shenzhen stock
code: 000931), the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Huang Dongfeng
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Huang, aged 63, joined the Company as an Executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer on 27 January 2017. Mr. Huang
graduated with a major in management engineering from the Central
South University of Technology (4 L 2% KX 2) (now known as
“Central South University”) in the PRC and is a senior economist.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Huang was the company secretary
(deputy general manager) of Jiangxi Copper Company Limited
(Hong Kong stock code: 358), the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and was the director and
general manager of its group companies. Mr. Huang has extensive
experience in corporate management, corporate finance, merger and
acquisition as well as strategies formulation, and has been awarded
the Gold Medal Board Secretary Award (& % ) by New Fortune
Magazine (¥ 81 & 5 7%).

Mr. Yiu Chun Kong
Executive Director

Mr. Yiu, aged 37, joined the Company as an Executive Director on
15 October 2016. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Yiu holds a Bachelor of Business Administration in
Accountancy degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has rich experience in auditing, accounting
and finance.

Mr. Yiu is an executive director of EPI (Holdings) Limited (“EPI”)

(Hong Kong stock code: 689), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

Dr. Guo Honglin
Executive Director

Dr. Guo, aged 54, joined the Company as an Executive Director on
3 May 2019. Dr. Guo graduated from Renmin University of China
in the PRC and holds a Doctorate in Economics degree. Dr. Guo
has served as the assistant lecturer, lecturer, associate professor
and tutor of postgraduate of master degree in Renmin University
of China and has been engaged as the assistant to the Principal
and the chief of the office of human resources management, and
the executive vice president of the School of Education of Renmin
University of China. Before joining the Company, Dr. Guo was a part-
time professor of the School of Education of Renmin University of
China. Dr. Guo possesses extensive knowledge in education sector
and has over 20 years of experience in institutional management,
strategic development and human resources management. Dr. Guo
is an independent director of Metro Land Corporation Ltd. (Shanghai
stock code: 600683), the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Sue Ka Lok
Non-executive Director

Mr. Sue, aged 57, joined the Company as an Executive Director
on 15 October 2016 and was re-designated as a Non-executive
Director with effect from 1 May 2017. Mr. Sue holds a Bachelor of
Economics degree from The University of Sydney in Australia and a
Master of Science in Finance degree from the City University of Hong
Kong. Mr. Sue is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow certified practising accountant of the
CPA Australia, a fellow of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute, and a chartered secretary, a chartered governance
professional and a fellow of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom. He has extensive experience in corporate
management, finance, accounting and company secretarial practice.
Mr. Sue is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company and a
director of Trillion Trophy Asia Limited, a substantial Shareholder.

Mr. Sue is an executive director and the chief executive officer of
China Strategic Holdings Limited (Hong Kong stock code: 235); and
an executive director of EPI. He is also an executive director and the
chairman of board of directors of Courage Investment Group Limited
(Hong Kong stock code: 1145 and Singapore stock code: CIN). All of
the aforementioned companies with Hong Kong stock code are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and Courage Investment
Group Limited is primarily listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and secondarily listed on Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

Mr. Pun Chi Ping
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Pun, aged 55, joined the Company as an Independent Non-
executive Director on 15 October 2016, and is the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Pun holds a Master of Science
in Finance degree from the City University of Hong Kong and a
Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy degree from the City Polytechnic of
Hong Kong (now known as the “City University of Hong Kong”). Mr.
Pun is a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Pun has extensive experience
in corporate finance, accounting and auditing and Mr. Pun is also
engaged in property development business.

Mr. Pun is an independent non-executive director of EPI and
China Huajun Group Limited (formerly known as “Huajun
International Group Limited”) (Hong Kong stock code: 377). All the
aforementioned companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine
Independent Non-executive Director

Ms. Leung, aged 53, joined the Company as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 15 October 2016, the Chairlady of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee. Ms. Leung holds a Bachelor of
Business Administration degree from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. Ms. Leung has extensive experience in banking and financial
services industries and had worked at several international financial
institutions including Citibank, N.A. Hong Kong, Bank of America,
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited and Fubon
Bank (Hong Kong) Limited.

Ms. Leung is an independent non-executive director of EPI, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

Mr. Yeung Chi Tat
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Yeung, aged 52, joined the Company as an Independent Non-
executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee on 8 November 2019. Mr. Yeung holds a Master’s
degree in Professional Accounting with distinction from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Bachelor’'s degree in
Business Administration from The University of Hong Kong. He is
a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
a Senior International Finance Manager of the International
Financial Management Association. Mr. Yeung worked at a major
international accounting firm for over 10 years and then worked
for various Hong Kong listed companies as vice president, chief
financial officer, financial controller and/or company secretary. He
possesses extensive experience in auditing, corporate restructuring
and corporate finance. Mr. Yeung is currently the President of the
Hong Kong Independent Non-executive Director Association and a
Certified Public Accountant (Practising) in Hong Kong.

Mr. Yeung is an independent non-executive director of Sitoy Group
Holdings Limited (Hong Kong stock code: 1023) and an independent
director of New Hope Dairy Co., Ltd. (Shenzhen stock code:
002946). Sitoy Group Holdings Limited is listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, and New Hope Dairy Co., Ltd. is listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Yeung was an independent
non-executive director of ANTA Sports Products Limited (Hong
Kong stock code: 2020) from February 2007 to June 2018; an
independent non-executive director of Boer Power Holdings Limited
(Hong Kong stock code: 1685) from September 2010 to June 2020;
and an independent non-executive director of Guodian Technology
& Environment Group Corporation Limited from August 2017 to May
2022 (whose shares were formerly listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange until 30 May 2022 with Hong Kong stock code:
1296).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors are pleased to submit their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its major subsidiaries are the operation of a professional
football club in the UK and other related business, properties
investment in Cambodia and Healthcare Business.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group, particulars of important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the end of the financial year and an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s business, can be found
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 5 to 19 of this annual
report, which form part of this directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2022 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 64 to 65.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties of the Group
during the year are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements and summary of the principal properties of the Group is
set out on pages 151 to 152.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company and
share options during the year are set out in notes 35 and 36 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 68 and note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(Continued)

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution as at 30 June 2022
amounted to approximately HK$148,212,000 (2021: approximately
HK$193,562,000).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company, is set out on page
150. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group’s sales to the five
largest customers accounted for less than 30% of total revenue.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group’s purchases from
the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 32.2% of total
purchases and purchases from the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 10.7%.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers during the year ended 30
June 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(Continued)

DIRECTORS

Below is a list of Directors during the financial year ended 30 June
2022 and up to the date of this report:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Wenqing (Chairman)

Mr. Huang Dongfeng (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Yiu Chun Kong

Dr. Guo Honglin

Mr. Hsiao Charng Geng (resigned on 30 June 2022)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Sue Ka Lok

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Pun Chi Ping
Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat

Biographical details of the current Directors are set out on pages 20
to 23 of this annual report.

In accordance with Articles 87(1) and 87(2) of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Huang Dongfeng, Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine
and Mr. Yeung Chi Tat will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (the “2022 AGM”) of the Company by rotation and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election in the 2022 AGM.

Mr. Hsiao Charng Geng resigned as an Executive Director with effect
from 30 June 2022. He confirmed that he had no disagreement with
the Board and nothing relating to the affairs of the Company needed
to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
2022 AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

As at 30 June 2022, to the best knowledge of the Directors, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director and the Director’s connected entity had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 30 June 2022 or at any
time during the year ended 30 June 2022.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(Continued)

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, subject to the
statutes, every Director shall be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses and liabilities which he/she may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate directors
and officers liability insurance coverage for the Directors and other
officers of the Company during the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

UPDATES ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

The following is updated information of the Directors required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

- Mr. Sue Ka Lok has become a fellow certified practising
accountant of the CPA Australia with effect from 8 June 2022.

- Mr. Yeung Chi Tat was an independent non-executive director
of Guodian Technology & Environment Group Corporation
Limited from August 2017 to May 2022 (whose shares were
formerly listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange until
30 May 2022 with Hong Kong stock code: 1296).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under the section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules were as follows:
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS ESEgRE

(Continued) (&

mE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

ESRRG HEROREEBZERZR
RE(E)

Long positions in the shares and the underlying shares of the RANARQ AN MIEERMDETEA
Company:

Approximate
percentage of the
Company’s issued

share capital

(Note (i)

Number of EERLAFE

Capacity and nature underlying BITRAZ

Name of director of interest shares held Note BMAB D

EEEE SR RERMEE RO EA Bt (HHEE()

Mr. Zhao Wenging Beneficial owner 66,804,124 (ii) 0.35%
OB E EmEAA

Mr. Huang Dongfeng Beneficial owner 66,804,124 (ii) 0.35%
=R E LA EmEB A

Notes: Wit

B 28

(i)

(i

The approximate percentage of the Company’s issued share capital
was calculated on the basis of 19,288,998,508 shares in issue as at
30 June 2022.

This represented the interest in the underlying shares which may
be issued upon the exercise of the share options granted by the
Company to the Directors on 6 December 2018 pursuant to the
share option scheme adopted by the Shareholders on 30 December
2016 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The consideration paid by each
Director on acceptance of the share options granted was HK$1.00.
The exercise price of the share options was HK$0.1084 per share.
The share options shall be vested and exercisable in three tranches
in accordance with the following dates: (1) approximately one third
of the share options granted was vested on the date of grant and
exercisable within the period of five years thereafter, i.e. from 6
December 2018 to 5 December 2023 (both dates inclusive); (2)
approximately one third of the share options granted shall be vested
on the first anniversary of the date of grant and exercisable within
the period of four years after being vested, i.e. from 6 December
2019 to 5 December 2023 (both dates inclusive); and (3) the
remaining one third of the share options granted shall be vested on
the second anniversary of the date of grant and exercisable within
the period of three years after being vested, i.e. 6 December 2020
to 5 December 2023 (both dates inclusive).

Upon completion of the rights issue on 23 April 2019, the number of
share options owned by each of Mr. Zhao Wenging and Mr. Huang
Dongfeng was adjusted to 66,804,124 to subscribe for 66,804,124
shares, exercisable at an adjusted price of HK$0.09736 per share.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(Continued)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2022, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had registered an interest or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be recorded pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 30 June 2022, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
person or corporation (other than a Director or chief executive of
the Company) had, or were deemed to have an interest or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:
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KA (E)

B EXFTiEEE SN 0 R2022F6A30H © A&
DEIZEE L RBITRA BMER A DA
HAEMMBEEIE(TERBHRBEKNSE
XVER) Z ikt - HERG REEZREBR
BEASERHEEFEI52ME 2 HEETXAR
AR BIZRET A Z SR E MAME AR &) KB
R ZERSIKRR ©

REEHRBERARATREZRRESRZR
KB

R2022%F6 300  MEEMA - AT AL
FEE (BREERARANRRITHAESN)
RARR R Z B AR B o B SR F
HAE KRR ARERE 75 &S &5 53361F
REmEFNECMACENEDEIORR

Approximate

Number percentage of the
of Shares Company’s issued
interested in share capital
(Note (i) (Note (v))
BERERZ EERQRE BT
Name of shareholder Capacity and nature of interest BRHBEE  Notes BREZBNES L
RRERB SR RERME (Hetn) M (BtEt(v))
Trillion Trophy Asia Limited Beneficial owner 5,425,000,000 (ii) 28.12%
(“Trillion Trophy”) EnlAA
Wealthy Associates International Limited Interest of controlled corporation 5,425,000,000 (ii) 28.12%
(“Wealthy Associates”) TR ER
Mr. Suen Cho Hung, Paul (“Mr. Suen”) Interest of controlled corporation 5,425,000,000 (ii) 28.12%
BHSESE ([REE]) ZEwlEEERE
Ever Depot Limited (“Ever Depot”) Beneficial owner 4,539,161,000 (i) 23.53%
KEBRDA (KE]) E=EAA
Graticity Real Estate Development Interest of controlled corporation 4,539,161,000 (iii) 23.53%
Co., Ltd (“GRED”) AR R
Mr. Vong Pech Interest of controlled corporation 4,539,161,000 (iii) 23.53%
Vong Pech’t & AR ER
Dragon Villa Limited (“Dragon Villa”) Beneficial owner 3,294,366,000 (iv) 17.08%
REEBRAR([RE] E=EAA
Mr. Lei Sutong Interest of controlled corporation 3,294,366,000 (iv) 17.08%

ERRALE
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(Continued)

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO (Continued)

Notes:
() All the above interests in the shares were long positions.

(i) Trillion Trophy is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wealthy Associates
which in turn is wholly-owned by Mr. Suen. Accordingly, Wealthy
Associates and Mr. Suen are deemed to be interested in the
5,425,000,000 shares held through Trillion Trophy under the SFO.

(i)  Ever Depot is a wholly-owned subsidiary of GRED which in turn is
wholly-owned by Mr. Vong Pech. Accordingly, GRED and Mr. Vong
Pech are deemed to be interested in the 4,539,161,000 shares held
through Ever Depot under the SFO.

(iv) Dragon Villa is wholly-owned by Mr. Lei Sutong. Accordingly, Mr.
Lei Sutong is deemed to be interested in the 3,294,366,000 shares
held through Dragon Villa under the SFO.

(v)  The approximate percentage of the Company’s issued share capital
was calculated on the basis of 19,288,998,508 shares in issue as at
30 June 2022.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of any
other relevant interests or short positions in the Company’s shares
or underlying shares as at 30 June 2022 as required pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Company at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 December 2016.
Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the Share Option Scheme
will be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on
the date of adoption. As at the date of this report, the remaining
life of the Share Option Scheme is approximately four years. The
purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company
to provide participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage participants to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for the
benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. Participants
of the Share Option Scheme comprise of Directors, employees of
the Group; and any advisors, consultants, business partners, agents,
customers, suppliers, service providers, contractors of any member
of the Group or any company or other entity in which the Group
or any member of it has a shareholding interest, who, in the sole
discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the
Group or any member of it. The offer of a grant of share options may
be accepted until the 30th day inclusive of, and from, the date of
grant, provided that no such offer shall be open for acceptance after
the expiry of the period of ten years commencing on the adoption
date of the Share Option Scheme or after the Share Option Scheme
has been terminated. The amount payable by each grantee of
options to the Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of
options is HK$1.00.

BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED B8 5 R EMR A A

EEERE

(&

BEBSRBEHRAIATREZRRESER
RE (&)
Hrat -

() FBELRZBOERIGRITFR -

(iy ~ Trillion Trophy /& Wealthy Associates <
2 & W B A F - M Wealthy Associates
Al EEEZ2EHMA - BIL - Wealthy
Associates R R L AR B F H &k B
B & ) ¥ 8 A& 3B 3B Trillion Trophy 7
5,425,000,000 BER% D R s o

(i) xF A GRED z2EWEBAF - i1 GRED
Bl Vong Pech e &2 & A - B It -
GRED % Vong Pech e £ R IEZEH R E
1B AR BB Bk B 4,539,161,000 &
B E R -

(v) ZEBEZRRLE2EHA At BX
RELRBBES RS GEOWERBERE
B 3,204,366,000 RRAZ 1A A 125 ©

v) EARRDETRAZENADLTER
2022 % 6 A 30 Hz 19,288,998,508 X &
BTN ETE -

B E T EE A YD 0 20226 A30H ¢ K
DRIV EE NS IRIEES RS 405336
G2 BEAFTIEZANRQ AR IEERG
ZAEREA BRI A R o

BREE

AN FR2016F12 A30H £ 17 2 I B #E F
ARG ERWERERT B - BRIEW B
A1 GRIBRER A M B R+ &
HMAER R AR - MRS BH - BEARAERT
Bl FpFEN ANF - BIRETE 2B 6
EEMSEALTREESAARMAEETS
Hfe  THBZ2EATAEAATRBRRZ
BEMABNREALRRFRERGHOEE -
EREFEZ2BATREES A5SEE
B REEe2 RSB REB S HE T MK
BRafEHBEE A EEH ER 2 ANEE T
AREBRARRAEBKETMKERREE
i FR AR SREMEE 2 EMER &%
A EREBESE RE-FPHER R
TEULER - AR  BREBREZZNAH
RHBH(BEZB) EEEF=THRE
4 - B R R BT B 5 B HAREET
+ FHIBR B M Sk R R B AR IE 8 NS
B - BREBREAR ARERR D ERE
ZEHRENARRQR ZEFE1.008TT o



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(Continued)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The subscription price for the shares on the exercise of options
under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price as determined by
the Board in its absolute discretion at the time of the grant of the
relevant option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the offer
of the grant of the option) but in any case the subscription price shall
not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of
the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (i) the nominal value of the Shares (if any) on the date of grant.
The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by
the Board but in any event, not longer than ten years from the date of
grant. At the time of grant of the options, the Company may specify
a minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company in any 12-month period up to the proposed date of grant
(including exercised and outstanding options) shall not exceed 1%
of the total number of the shares of the Company in issue as at the
proposed date of grant. Any further grant of options to a participant
in excess of the 1% limit shall be subject to the Shareholders’
approval with such participant and his/her close associates (or
associates if the participant is a connected person) abstaining from
voting.

The limit on the total number of shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company (excluding lapsed and cancelled
options) must not exceed 30% of the total number of the shares of
the Company in issue from time to time. In addition, the total number
of the shares of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme, together
with all options to be granted under any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company (excluding lapsed options), must not represent more
than 10% of the total number of the shares of the Company in issue
as at the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”") or as at the date of the approval of the refreshed
Scheme Mandate Limit as the case maybe.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(Continued)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

As at the date of this report, a total of 1,771,002,250 shares
(representing approximately 9.18% of the existing issued Shares), as
refreshed by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting held on
31 December 2019, may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and a total of 278,350,515 shares (representing approximately
1.44% of the existing issued Shares) may be issued upon exercise of
all options which had been granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this report, a total of 2,049,352,765 shares,
representing approximately 10.62% of the issued Shares at the
date of this report, were available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme.

Details of movements in the number of share options during the year
ended 30 June 2022 under the Share Option Scheme are as follows:
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Number of Number of
share share
options options
outstanding Number of  outstanding
as at share options as at
1 July 2021 lapsed 30 June 2022
H2021F during H20224F
Name or category Exercisable period Exercise price 7B1B#E % the year 6A30AH
of participant Date of grant (both dates inclusive) per share Tz FRE¥Z HEAOTEZ
SHEEMHARER HBEAH TEH(EEERMX) BRiTEE BREZE BREZE BREHEA
HK$
BT
Directors:
Ex:
Mr. Zhao Wenging 6 December 2018 6 December 2018 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 22,268,042 - 22,268,042
R K& 201812 A6A 2018512 A6 A £2023F12A5H
6 December 2019 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 22,268,041 - 22,268,041
2019512 A6H £2023512A5H
6 December 2020 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 22,268,041 - 22,268,041
2020512 A6 A £2023F12A5H
Mr. Huang Dongfeng 6 December 2018 6 December 2018 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 22,268,042 - 22,268,042
BERELE 2018%1236H  2018412/36H £2023% 1250
6 December 2019 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 22,268,041 - 22,268,041
201912 A6 A £2023F12A5H
6 December 2020 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 22,268,041 - 22,268,041
2020512 A6H £2023512A5H
133,608,248 - 133,608,248
Employees 6 December 2018 6 December 2018 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 66,804,123 18,927,835 47,876,288
EE 201812 A6A 2018512 A6 £2023F12A5H
6 December 2019 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 66,804,124 17,814,433 48,989,691
2019512 A6H 2023512450
6 December 2020 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 66,804,123 18,927,835 47,876,288
2020512 A6 A £2023F12A5H
200,412,370 55,670,103 144,742,267
334,020,618 55,670,103 278,350,515

BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED B8 5 R EMR A A




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(Continued)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

()  The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant
until the commencement date of the exercise period.

(i) During the year ended 30 June 2022, 55,670,103 options lapsed
and no options had been granted, exercised or cancelled under the
Share Option Scheme.

(i) As a result of the rights issue which was completed on 23 April
2019, the exercise price of the share options was adjusted from
HK$0.1084 to HK$0.09736 under the Share Option Scheme and
the supplementary guidance regarding adjustment of share options
under Rule 17.03(13) of the Listing Rules. The number of shares
of the Company that will fall to be issued upon exercise of the
outstanding share options were also adjusted accordingly.

Additional information in relation to the Share Option Scheme are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES” above and the “SHARE OPTION SCHEME”
disclosure in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, at
no time during the year ended 30 June 2022 was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable to the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the Directors or their spouse or minor children had any rights
to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any
such rights during the year ended 30 June 2022.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 30 June
2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company had not entered
into any contract in respect of the management or administration of
any business of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 30 June 2022, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(Continued)

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 30 June 2022 and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors, or any of their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) had any material interest in any business
that competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 41 to 57 of this annual
report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into the following connected
transaction and continuing connected transactions with connected
persons (as defined in the Listing Rules):

Continuing Connected Transactions
Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group had entered into
the following continuing connected transactions which are exempt
from the reporting, announcement, annual review and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules, the disclosure of which is on a voluntary basis in order
to enhance the transparency of the Group’s transactions:

Revolving loan facility from Trillion Trophy

On 21 December 2016, the Company and Trillion Trophy entered
into a revolving loan facility (as supplemented by supplemental
facility agreements dated 21 December 2018, 31 December 2020
and 31 December 2021 respectively) pursuant to which Trillion
Trophy provided a revolving loan facility up to HK$250,000,000 to
the Company at an interest rate of 4.5% per annum (collectively
the “Trillion Trophy Facility”). As at the date of this report, Trillion
Trophy is a substantial Shareholder holding approximately 28.12%
interest of the Company and hence a connected person of the
Company. The transactions contemplated under the Trillion Trophy
Facility constitute financial assistance for the Company under the
Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules, such
financial assistance received by the Company from Trillion Trophy
is fully exempt from the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A to the
Listing Rules as it is conducted on normal commercial terms or
pbetter and it is not secured by the assets of the Group. As at 30
June 2022, a total of approximately HK$44,685,000 had been drawn
from the Trillion Trophy Facility.

BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED B8 5 R EMR A A
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(Continued)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
Long-term lease agreement with GRED

On 30 June 2017, Celestial Fame Investment (Cambodia) Co., Ltd.
(“Celestial Fame Cambodia”), currently a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group, entered into a long-term lease agreement with GRED to
lease the right of use of a piece of land at Phnom Penh, Cambodia
for an initial term of 50 years. At the sole option of Celestial Fame
Cambodia, the term may be extended for another 50 years. The rent
payable for the total lease term shall be US$3,000,000 which shall
be paid by 50 equal instalments each year during the initial term.
As at the date of this report, GRED is a substantial Shareholder
holding approximately 23.53% interest in the Company through a
controlled company, Ever Depot, and hence a connected person
of the Company. The transactions contemplated under the long-
term lease agreement constitute a continuing connected transaction
of the Company under Chapter 14A to the Listing Rules. As all the
percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) are less than 5% and
the annual lease payment for the lease is less than HK$3,000,000,
pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules, the long-term
lease agreement is fully exempt from reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A to the Listing Rules. During the year under review, the total
amount paid to GRED under the transactions was approximately
HK$468,000 (equivalent to US$60,000).

Revolving loan facility from Oriental Rainbow

On 31 December 2020, the Company and Oriental Rainbow entered
into a revolving loan facility pursuant to which Oriental Rainbow
provided a revolving loan facility up to HK$300,000,000 to the
Company at an interest rate of 4.5% per annum (the “Oriental
Rainbow Facility”). As at 30 June 2022 and during the year ended
30 June 2022, Oriental Rainbow is wholly-owned by Mr. Vong
Pech, a substantial Shareholder who indirectly holds approximately
23.53% interest in the Company and hence a connected person of
the Company. The transactions contemplated under the Oriental
Rainbow Facility constitute financial assistance for the Company
under the Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules,
such financial assistance received by the Company from Oriental
Rainbow is fully exempt from the reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A to the Listing Rules as it is conducted on normal commercial
terms or better and it is not secured by the assets of the Group. As
at 30 June 2022, a total of approximately HK$129,712,000 had been
drawn from the Oriental Rainbow Facility.
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(Continued)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of subsidiaries

On 9 October 2020, the Company and Oriental Rainbow entered
into a shareholders’ agreement (the “Shareholders’ Agreement”)
pursuant to which Birmingham City PLC (“BCP”) requires financing,
such funds shall be met by borrowing, advances or credit from banks
or other financial institutions or similar sources. If guarantee and/or
security is required to obtain further borrowings, the Company and
Oriental Rainbow shall severally (or otherwise as agreed between the
Company and Oriental Rainbow and subject to the applicable laws,
rules and regulations (including but not limited to the Listing Rules))
give such security and/or guarantee provided that the Company
will only provide such security and/or guarantee proportional to
its shareholding interest in BCP whereas Oriental Rainbow will be
responsible for the remaining proportion of the security and/or
guarantee (the “Agreed Proportion”).

If further capital is required by BCP, the Company and Oriental
Rainbow shall (subject to the applicable laws, rules and regulations
(including but not limited to the Listing Rules)) inject such capital or
provide such funds in the form of shareholders’ loan or by way of
subscription of new shares of BCP in the Agreed Proportion.

Details of the above transaction were disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 9 October 2020 and the
circular of the Company dated 17 November 2020.

The carrying amount of approximately HK$246,995,000 as at 30
June 2022 represented advance to BCP from Oriental Rainbow. The
balances are denominated in Pounds Sterling and are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed repayment term.

The abovementioned transaction constitutes financial assistance for
the Company under the Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the
Listing Rules, such financial assistance received by the Group from
Oriental Rainbow is fully exempt from the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A to the Listing Rules as it is conducted on normal commercial
terms or better and it is not secured by the assets of the Group.

BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED B8 5 R EMR A A
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(Continued)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
Revolving loan facility from Great Summit Ventures Limited

On 38 May 2022, the Company and Great Summit Ventures Limited
(“Great Summit”) entered into a revolving loan facility pursuant
to which Great Summit provided a revolving loan facility up to
HK$100,000,000 to the Company at an interest rate of 4.5% per
annum (the “Great Summit Facility”). As at the date of this report,
Great Summit is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Vong Pech, a
substantial Shareholder who indirectly holds approximately 23.53%
interest in the Company and hence a connected person of the
Company. The transactions contemplated under the Great Summit
Facility constitute financial assistance for the Company under the
Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules, such
financial assistance received by the Company from Great Summit
is fully exempt from the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A to the
Listing Rules as it is conducted on normal commercial terms or
better and it is not secured by the assets of the Group. As at 30
June 2022, a total of approximately HK$58,652,000 had been drawn
from the Great Summit Facility.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, details of the non-
exempt continuing connected transactions for the year ended 30
June 2022 required to be disclosed in the annual report are as
follows:

Master lease agreement with Ever Depot

On 28 August 2018, Celestial Fame Investments Limited (“Celestial
Fame BVI”), a subsidiary of the Group, entered into a master lease
agreement (the “Master Lease Agreement”) with Ever Depot, a
substantial Shareholder and a wholly-owned subsidiary of GRED, to
lease certain of its properties in Cambodia to Ever Depot at a rent
of US$15 per s.g.m. per month, to regulate the terms of proposed
continuing connected transactions and their respective proposed
caps of the transactions and thereunder for the period commencing
from 1 December 2018 to 30 June 2021.
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(Continued)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
Master lease agreement with Ever Depot (Continued)

On 21 April 2021, Celestial Fame BVI entered into a supplemental
agreement (“Supplemental Master Lease Agreement”) with Ever
Depot, pursuant to which Celestial Fame BVI and Ever Depot
conditionally agreed to renew the Master Lease Agreement for a
term of three years in relation to the above properties at a rent of
US$15 per s.gq.m. per month commencing from 1 July 2021. The
transactions contemplated under the Supplemental Master Lease
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A to the Listing Rules. The Supplemental
Master Lease Agreement was approved by the independent
Shareholders on 23 June 2021. The approved annual caps under
the Supplemental Master Lease Agreement for the year ended
30 June 2022 and the years ending 30 June 2023 and 2024 was
US$3,613,000. During the year under review, the Group recorded
rental income under the Supplemental Master Lease Agreement
of approximately US$3,613,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$28,179,000). Details of the transactions were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 28 August 2018 and 21 April
2021 and the circulars of the Company dated 19 November 2018
and 28 May 2021.

Shareholders’ agreement with Oriental Rainbow

On 9 October 2020, the Company and Oriental Rainbow entered into
the Shareholders’ Agreement which provides the rights and duties and
further regulates the respective responsibilities of the Company and
Oriental Rainbow towards the management of the business and affairs
of BCP and its subsidiaries. As at 30 June 2022 and during the year
ended 30 June 2022, Oriental Rainbow is wholly-owned by Mr. Vong
Pech, a substantial Shareholder who indirectly holds approximately
23.53% interest in the Company and hence a connected person of
the Company. The transaction contemplated thereunder constituted
a continuing connected transaction of the Company and is subject
to the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules. The transaction
contemplated under the Shareholders’ Agreement was approved by
the independent Shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting
held on 8 December 2020. The approved annual caps in respect of
the compensation of the continuing connected transaction under the
Shareholders’ Agreement for the years ended 30 June 2021 and 2022
and the year ending 30 June 2023 are GBP25,000,000 while the
approved annual caps in respect of the bonus are GBP30,000,000
for the year ended 30 June 2022 and years ending 30 June 2023
and 2024. For the year ended 30 June 2022, compensation of an
amount of approximately GBP19,368,000 were receivable by the
Group under the Shareholders’ Agreement; and there was no bonus
amount payable/paid by the Group to Oriental Rainbow under the
Shareholders’ Agreement. Details of the Shareholders’ Agreement
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 9 October
2020 and the circular of the Company dated 17 November 2020.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(Continued)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Directors engaged
the auditor of the Company to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing
their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the Listing Rules. The letter states
that nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the continuing connected transactions (i) have not been
approved by the Board, (i) were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreement governing
the transactions, and (iiij have exceeded the respective annual cap
amounts. The Company provided a copy of such letter to the Stock
Exchange. The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed
the continuing connected transactions and the unqualified letter from
the auditor and are in the opinion that the continuing connected
transactions entered into by the Group were in the ordinary and usual
course of its business, on normal commercial terms or better, and
according to the terms of the agreement governing such transactions
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole and within their respective annual cap amounts.

In relation to the connected transaction and the continuing
connected transactions of the Group, the Company has complied
with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other discloseable non-
exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing
connected transaction under the Listing Rules during the year ended
30 June 2022.

EEERE

(&
REXGRFERERS (&)

BEBERS (F)
HHBEFHEBHEXR S (F)

BiF FTHBIE14A5615  EEZEART
ZERD - R R B B % E & BB X R 530005
(B8] [BRUBHBEMEER AN Z
HEZEIR2RESSHMASEMZE
5B T7405% (LIS BN BB LR A
Bl s B B @ 22 5 M Z B0 i I A B
ZIFERER HIEHRS - KR EMMRA
HEMEYHRBERNERHICEEERRE
o BHEEEEREER 2R o kS
B FEVTERBAINEBRRERSERA
BEBERSONWARMBESSHAE ()R
FIBEAFETEREEER S ZEERS
EIT RNEBASECFELReE - K
NEIE R Z R BIA 2 R FT o B IE
WTESZOEHNHERER I R &
REBERRM  URAREEMEITHER
ERXGDRAFR —REBBEFRIZERES
BRERAEEGRR  BRBEZSIH 20
HZER(ERABERBATABEYFARRE
BERNZ)ET MASkzeBmITELRTY
ZERHEEZFELREE -

RARE CER S RFFEREIHME
ARBEETETRAUNEVAATZ WERE

B EXAETRASN  RIEETRA AR
REE2022F6 A30B It FER » BEEE A
BTEBRZIBDEHERZFIIERCISER
ERS o

#£ 3% ANNUAL REPORT 2022

39 B



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(Continued)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with parties regarded as
“related parties” under the applicable accounting standards. Save for
the connected transaction and continuing connected transactions
disclosed under the section headed “CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” above, the other
related party disclosures as disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements did not constitute connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their competence,
performance, experience and prevailing market terms. Other
employee benefits included provident fund scheme, medical
insurance, share option scheme as well as discretionary bonus.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
confirmed that it has maintained a sufficient public float in the market
as at the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the management
and the external auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
(“ZHONGHUI ANDA”), the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2022.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 30 June 2022 have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA.

A resolution will be proposed at the 2022 AGM to re-appoint
ZHONGHUI ANDA as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Zhao Wenqing
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 September 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board believes that good corporate governance is crucial
to improve the efficiency and performance of the Group and to
safeguard the interests of the Shareholders. The Company aims to
achieve good standard of corporate governance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company had complied with all the applicable provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules for the year ended 30 June 2022, except the
deviation disclosed below:

Code provision A.1.3 (which has been renumbered as code provision
C.5.3 since 1 January 2022) of the CG Code provides that notice
of at least 14 days should be given of a regular board meeting to
give all directors an opportunity to attend. During the year ended
30 June 2022, certain regular Board meetings were convened with
less than 14 days’ notice to facilitate the Directors’ timely reaction
and expeditious decision in respect of internal affairs of the Group.
Such Board meetings were held with a shorter notice period than
required with no objection by the Directors and all Directors attended
such meetings. The Company will use its best endeavor to meet the
requirement of code provision in the future.

The Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report will
be available no later than 30 November 2022 on the websites of
both the Company (www.bshl.com.hk) and the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk).

The following sections set out how the principles in the CG Code
have been complied with by the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
for securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific
enquiry with the existing Directors, all of them confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
during the year ended 30 June 2022.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(Continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board formulates overall strategy of the Group, monitors its
financial performance and maintains effective oversight over the
management. The Board members are fully committed to their roles
and have acted in good faith to maximise the Shareholders’ value in
the long run, and have aligned the Group’s goal and directions with
the prevailing economic and market conditions. Daily operations and
administration are delegated to the management.

The Board met regularly throughout the year to discuss the overall
strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group. The Directors are kept informed on timely basis of major
changes that may affect the Group’s business, including relevant
rules and regulations. The Directors can, upon reasonable request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses. The Board shall resolve to provide
separate appropriate independent professional advice to the
Directors to assist the relevant Directors discharge their duties.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises a total of eight
members including four Executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhao
Wenqing, Mr. Huang Dongfeng, Mr. Yiu Chun Kong (“Mr. Yiu”) and
Dr. Guo Honglin, one Non-executive Director, Mr. Sue Ka Lok (“Mr.
Sue”), and three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Pun Chi Ping (“Mr. Pun”), Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine (“Ms.
Leung”) and Mr. Yeung Chi Tat. Members of the Board have different
professional and relevant industry experiences and background
and have a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. The Company has
received written annual confirmation from each of the existing
Independent Non-executive Directors of their independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Throughout the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company complied
with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors, at least one independent non-executive Director with
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise, and a sufficient number of
independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third
of the board, respectively.

The Company considers all existing Independent Non-executive
Directors to be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules. Biographical details of the
Directors are set out under the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors” on pages 20 to 23 of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(Continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

As disclosed in the section “Biographical Details of Directors”,
Mr. Sue is an executive director of EPI of which Mr. Yiu is an
executive director, Mr. Pun and Ms. Leung are independent non-
executive directors. Save for the aforesaid, there is no other financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship between
members of the Board and senior management.

The Company will provide a comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction to each newly appointed Director on his/her first
appointment in order to enable him/her to have appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and
that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory
and regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities. The Company has provided timely
technical updates, including the briefing on the amendments on the
Listing Rules and the news release published by the Stock Exchange
to the Directors. Continuing briefing and professional development
for Directors are arranged where necessary.

The Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by attending seminars, in-house briefings and reading
materials on the related areas to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. During the year ended 30 June 2022, all Directors
(including Mr. Zhao Wenqing, Mr. Huang Dongfeng, Mr. Yiu Chun
Kong, Dr. Guo Honglin, Mr. Sue Ka Lok, Mr. Pun Chi Ping, Ms.
Leung Pik Har, Christine, Mr. Yeung Chi Tat and Mr. Hsiao Charng
Geng) have complied with code provision A.6.5 (which has been
renumbered as code provision C.1.4 since 1 January 2022) of the
CG Code and have provided the Company with their respective
training records pursuant to the CG Code.

The Board holds meetings on a regular basis and meets on other
occasions when a board-level decision on a particular matter is
required. The Board also monitors and controls financial performance
in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

The Company held four regular Board meetings and an annual
general meeting during the year ended 30 June 2022.
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(Continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

/ E

Exg(®)

The attendance of each Director at the meetings held during the year & ZEFEHFERE E2022F6 308 I[FFE 42

ended 30 June 2022 is set out as follows:

THEENBERHIIBOT :

Attendance/Number of

meetings
HESRRE gRRE
Annual
General
Board Meeting Meeting
Name of director EEpg EZgeE RREFXAE
Executive directors: HITESE:
Mr. Zhao Wenqing (Chairman) BXERE(FE) 4/4 1/1
Mr. Huang Dongfeng (Chief Executive Officer) BRBLE (7TEBAEE) 4/4 1/1
Mr. Yiu Chun Kong HhEBLE 4/4 1/1
Dr. Guo Honglin A ME L 4/4 1/1
Mr. Hsiao Charng Geng (resigned on 30 June 2022) BRELE (R2022F6H308 BHE) 4/4 1/1
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Mr. Sue Ka Lok BREnE 4/4 1/1
Independent non-executive directors: BYkHTES
Mr. Pun Chi Ping }%53$5‘E$ 4/4 1/1
Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine REEL+ 4/4 1/1
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat BEELE 4/4 1/1

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

EFRRITHAR

The Company adopts a dual leadership structure in which the role ZAATLFAHEEEE SHESFFEAD
of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of &7 {THAEHE BRI A TEE - I}*,\fEﬁ
the Company are assumed by different persons. The Chairman is EEZ®AEE MATESELRSRE

responsible for overseeing all Board functions, while the Executive I AEBHART ZITHAHEE  UNEEAR
Directors and senior management are under the leadership of the S£EBEELERNITESSHIENE MK

s

Chief Executive Officer of the Company to oversee the day-to-day %% °
operations of the Group and implement the strategies and policies

approved by the Board.

Currently, Mr. Zhao Wenqing is the Chairman of the Board and Mr. BERESSFFABEELE  MARFZ
Huang Dongfeng is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. THEEAERRALAE -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(Continued)

TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the Non-executive Directors (including the Independent
Non-executive Directors) is appointed for a term of 12-month period
which automatically renews for successive 12-month periods unless
terminated by either party in writing prior to the expiry of the term.
All the Non-executive Directors (including the Independent Non-
executive Directors) are also subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at least once every three years at the annual general
meetings of the Company in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

A number of committees of the Board, namely the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, have been
set up by the Company, with specific terms of reference relating
to authority and duties, to strengthen the Board’s functions and
enhance its expertise.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has specific written terms of reference that is in
compliance with the CG Code.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yeung Chi Tat,
Mr. Pun Chi Ping and Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine, who among
themselves possess a wealth of management experience in the
accounting profession and in commercial fields. The Audit Committee
is chaired by Mr. Yeung Chi Tat.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing financial
statements of the Company, discussing the risk management
and internal control of the Group and meeting with the auditor of
the Company. Any findings and recommendations of the Audit
Committee will be submitted to the Board for consideration.

The Audit Committee is authorised by the Board to investigate any
activity within its terms of reference. It is authorised to seek any
information it requires from any employee. It is also authorised to
obtain outside legal or other independent professional advice and
to secure the attendance of outsiders with relevant experience and
expertise if it considers necessary. The full terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are available on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(Continued) (&
AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued) EREEE(#)
The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 30 B ZE 8 @A £202246 A30H Ik & £
June 2022. The attendance of each member is set out as follows: TMREFH - SKEZHEBAFINET :
Attendance/
Number of
meetings
HESBIE
Name of member REHR BERE
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat GRESAE 2/2
Mr. Pun Chi Ping ERTRAE 2/2
Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine REELL 2/2
The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit MNUTABKZEENEZE20224F6H30H IE
Committee during the year ended 30 June 2022: FEFETIEZHE -
1. reviewed and discussed with the management and the auditor 1. EARQTEIEERZHMER LA HRE
of the Company the annual audit plan, accounting policies and REREAEB FEEZTE - T
practices which may affect the Group and the scope of the RELIE G| R BAZ N

audit;

2. reviewed reports from the auditor of the Company regarding
their audit on the Company’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2021;

3. reviewed and discussed the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2021
and recommended to the Board for approval;

4.  reviewed and discussed the unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the six months ended
31 December 2021 and recommended to the Board for
approval;

5. reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group;

6. reviewed the compliance of the CG Code by the Group;

7. reviewed the continuing connected transactions;

8. reviewed and approved the remuneration and the terms of
engagement of the Company’s auditor; and reviewed and made
recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of the
Company’s auditor; and

9. reviewed and made recommendation to the Board of the
revision of the Group’s policies and terms of reference of the
audit committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(Continued)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee has specific written terms of reference
that is in compliance with the CG Code.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Pun Chi
Ping, Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine and Mr. Yeung Chi Tat. The
Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Pun Chi Ping.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for formulating
the remuneration policy, reviewing and recommending to the Board
the annual remuneration policy and the remuneration of the directors
and senior management. The overriding objective of the remuneration
policy is to ensure that the Group is able to attract, retain and
motivate a high caliber team which is essential to the success of the
Group. The full terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee

are available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
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website.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year #HEMZE @NE F202246H830H tFE L
ended 30 June 2022. The attendance of each member is set out as 5%17 REF BB ZHE BRI W

follows: T
Attendance/
Number of
meetings
HEEERE
Name of member REHE BERE
Mr. Pun Chi Ping ERTRAE 1/
Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine REEZT 1/1
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat BRERERE 1/1

The following is a summary of work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the year ended 30 June 2022:

1. reviewed the annual remuneration policy;

2. reviewed the remuneration of the Executive Directors, the Non-
executive Director and the Independent Non-executive Directors
and management year-end bonus and assessed performance of

the Executive Directors; and

3. made recommendation to the Board on the above matters.
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(Continued)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Group recognises the importance of high caliber and competent
staff and continues to provide remuneration packages to employees
with reference to prevailing market practices and individual
performance. Other benefits, such as medical and retirement
benefits, are also provided.
granted to eligible employees of the Group (including the Directors)
in accordance with the terms of the approved share option scheme
adopted by the Group.

In addition, share options may be

Details of Directors’ emoluments during the year ended 30 June
2022 are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements
and details of the share option scheme are set out in the Directors’
Report and note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. The
total remuneration of the senior management (excluding Directors)
for the year ended 30 June 2022 is in the range of HK$500,000 —
HK$3,000,000.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee has specific written terms of reference
that is in compliance with the CG Code.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Leung
Pik Har, Christine, Mr. Pun Chi Ping and Mr. Yeung Chi Tat. The
Nomination Committee is chaired by Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for identifying
potential directors and making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors. Potential new
directors are selected on the basic of his/her qualifications, skills and
experience that he/she could add value to the management through
his/her contributions in the relevant strategic business areas. The full
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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(Continued)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended
30 June 2022. The attendance of each member is set out as follows:
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Attendance/

Number of

meetings

HEEERE

Name of member REHR BERE
Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine REEL L+ 11
Mr. Pun Chi Ping = it 1/1
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat BRERERE 1/1

The following is a summary of work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the year ended 30 June 2022:

1.  assessed and confirmed the independence of the Independent
Non-executive Directors;

2.  reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, diversity and experience) of the Board;

3. reviewed the board diversity policy and corporate governance
policy;

4.  reviewed the appointment and re-election of directors; and

5. made recommendation to the Board on the above matters.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance and adopted the board
diversity policy of the Company (the “Board Diversity Policy”). The
Board Diversity Policy sets out that in determining the optimum
composition of the Board, differences in skills, regional and industry
experience, background, race, gender and other qualities of
directors shall be considered. All Board appointments are made on
merits, in the context of skills and experience the Board as a whole
requires, with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board,
and the Nomination Committee shall review and assess the Board
composition and its effectiveness on an annual basis. When there
is vacancy on Board, the Nomination Committee will recommend
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board on merits, based
on the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee, with due
regard to the Company’s own circumstances.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
from time to time to ensure that the policy will be implemented
effectively.
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(Continued)

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a nomination policy of the Company
(the “Nomination Policy”) setting out the principles which guide
the Nomination Committee to identify and evaluate a candidate
for nomination to (i) the Board for appointment; and (ii) the
Shareholders for election as a director of the Company. According
to the Nomination Policy, in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate, the Board shall take into account among other things,
the following factors: (i) qualifications, professional experience, skills
and knowledge which are relevant to the businesses of the Group; (ii)
commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest; (iii) in
case of independent non-executive directors, regulatory requirement
for appointment of Independent Non-executive Directors and the
independence criteria as set out in the Listing Rules; (iv) diversity
perspectives as set out in the Board Diversity Policy; and (v) any
other factors that the Board considers appropriate.

For filling a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board,
the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations for the
Board’s consideration and approval. For proposing candidates to
stand for election at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee
shall make nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation. On making recommendation, the Nomination
Committee may submit to the Board a proposal comprising, inter-
alia, the personal profile of the proposed candidate for consideration.
The personal profile should contains at least the candidate’s
information required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51 of the Listing
Rules. The Board shall be vested with power to make the final
decision on all matters relating to the recommendation of candidates
(i) for appointment; and (i) for standing for election at a general
meeting as Director.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy from
time to time to ensure that the policy will be implemented effectively.
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(Continued)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for determining the policy for the corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties as below:

1. to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to the employees and directors
of the Group; and

5. to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure requirements in the corporate governance report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022, which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group at that date and of the Group’s results and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with the statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards.

In respect of note 2(b) to the consolidated financial statements, it
is stated that the Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$40,661,000 for the year ended
30 June 2022 and as at 30 June 2022 the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$88,044,000. These conditions indicate
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Directors
are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient working capital
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due for the
next twelve months after taking into consideration of several facilities
provided to the Company, the above situation will not have a material
impact on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern
and that the Group will have sufficient funds to support the Group’s
operations and financial obligations. Details of the facilities provided
to the Company are set out in note 2(b) to the consolidated financial
statements in this report. The Directors consider it appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 30 June 2022 on a going concern basis. In addition to
this, the Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the
Directors have prepared the consolidated financial statements of the
Group on a going concern basis.
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(Continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control and reviewing their
effectiveness to safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and the
Group’s assets. The risk management and internal control systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The review
covers financial, operational and compliance controls of the Group.

The Group does not have an internal audit function in view of the
size of the Group and consideration for cost effectiveness. During
the year under review, the Company engaged an independent
consultant to conduct review on the risk management and internal
control systems once for the year ended 30 June 2022 to identify
and evaluate significant risks of the Group’s business operations. The
Board believes that the involvement of an independent consultant
could enhance the objectivity and transparency of the evaluation
process. During its review, the consultant has performed an
assessment of selected financial procedures, systems and internal
controls in order to identify significant findings in the relevant internal
controls of the Group. Certain aspects of their review include
corporate governance and listing rules compliance. The consultant
has also conducted interviews with the Group’s management,
staff members and key process operators, and inspected relevant
documentations in order to understand the Group’s processes and
controls. The consultant has performed tests to determine whether
the controls have been properly implemented and operated, and
finally identified certain findings based on their results of tests
and developed relevant recommendations and suggestions for
improvement.

For the risk management perspective, the consultant has also
performed an assessment on the Group’s financial, operation,
compliance and strategic aspects and identified certain risk areas.
A written risk assessment report with the identified key risks and
risk evaluation results have been presented to the Board. The Board
will implement appropriate measures to continue to minimise the
identified risks and control them within acceptable levels. In order to
manage risks effectively, the management will continue to monitor
the identified risks and the respective control measures, and arrange
adequate resources for the effective control measures undertaken.
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(Continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (Continued)

In order to assess the importance and materiality of the identified
risks, the management ranked the risks based on the level of
likelihood and impact from a scale of 1 to 5 (5 being the highest
level), the highest the level of likelihood and risk impact, the more
important and material the risks are, which the management will put
more effort and resources in managing those risks.

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Board has conducted an
annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group by, including but not limited
to, considering the internal control and risk assessment report
prepared by the consultant to the Company covering the above
aspects. The Board has also considered the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, and training programmes of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function during the year
under review. The Board is not aware of any significant internal
control and risk management weaknesses nor significant breach of
limits or risk management policies, and considers the existing internal
control and risk management systems effective and adequate for
the year ended 30 June 2022. The Company has complied with the
relevant code provisions of the CG Code relating to risk management
and internal control.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and
dissemination of inside information which sets out the procedures
and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information in a timely manner in such a way to avoid placing any
person in a privileged dealing position. The inside information policy
also provides guidelines to employees of the Group to ensure
proper safeguards exists to prevent the Company from breaching
the statutory and listing rule disclosure requirements. The Company
has appropriate internal control and reporting systems to identify
and assess potential inside information. Dissemination of inside
information of the Company shall be conducted by publishing the
relevant information on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange, according to the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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(Continued)

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Company’s annual and interim
reports, inside information announcements and other financial
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
30 June 2022.

Save as disclosed in the “Going concern basis” in note 2(b) to the
consolidated financial statements, the Board is not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to any events or conditions that may
cause significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern. The Independent Auditor’'s Report states the
auditor’s reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the
Company.

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding its
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages
58 to 63.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the remuneration paid/payable
to the Group’s external auditors are set out as follows:
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2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$ HK$

Services rendered for the Group EAREIRMEZ RS B BT

Audit services ZERTS 1,392,000 1,394,000
Non-audit services IR BPR TS

- Agreed-upon procedures of interim review - A THHIESRRF 130,000 130,000

— Other non-audit services - HM3EZ SR 576,000 318,000

2,098,000 1,842,000
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(Continued)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yam Pui Hung, Robert, the Chief Financial Officer has been
appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company since 3 May
2019. Mr. Yam holds a Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy degree
from the City Polytechnic of Hong Kong (now known as the “City
University of Hong Kong”). Mr. Yam is a fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a certified public accountant of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yam has
extensive experience in accounting, financial management, corporate
finance and company secretarial practice. Mr. Yam has taken no less
than 15 hours of the relevant professional training during the year
ended 30 June 2022.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company provides a
forum for communication between the Shareholders and the Board.
The notice of the AGM is despatched to all the Shareholders at least
20 clear business days prior to such AGM. The chairpersons of all
the Board committees are invited to attend the AGM. The chairman
of the Board and the chairpersons of all the Board committees,
or in their absence, other members of the respective committees,
are available to answer questions at the AGM. The auditor of the
Company is also invited to attend the AGM to answer questions
about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the
auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor’s independence.

Procedures to convene an extraordinary general meeting by
Shareholders and to put forward proposals at general meeting

Any one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit
of requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to
the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition.

If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) may convene a meeting
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed by the Company to the requisitionist(s).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(Continued)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election
as a director

Pursuant to Article 88 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
no person, other than a Director retiring at a meeting, shall,
unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for
appointment as a Director at any general meeting unless there shall
have been lodged at the head office or at the registration office of
the Company a notice in writing signed by a Shareholder (other than
the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to propose
that person for election as a Director and also a notice in writing
signed by that person of his willingness to be elected as a Director.
The said notices shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
registration office of the Company not less than 7 clear days but
not more than 14 clear days before the date of the general meeting.
The written notice must state that person’s biographical details as
required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and that the person
has passed The Owners’ and Directors’ Test in the UK pursuant to
the Appendix Ill of the Regulations of the English Football League.

Procedures to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong or email to ir@bihl.com.hk
for the attention of the Company Secretary of the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy. When considering
the declaration and payment of dividends, the Board takes into
account the following factors: (i) the actual and expected financial
performance of the Group, (i) the retained earnings and distributable
reserves of the Group, (iii) the expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans, (iv) liquidity position, and (v) any other
factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The form and frequency of dividend declaration and payment shall
be determined at the sole and absolute discretion of the Board and
is also subject to compliance with all applicable laws and regulations
including the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s Articles
of Association.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(Continued)

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its shareholders, investors and other stakeholders.
These include the annual general meeting, the annual and interim
reports, notices, announcements and circulars and the Company’s
website at www.bshl.com.hk.

Enquiries may be put to the Board through the Company Secretary
of the Company by post at 31/F, Vertical Sq., 28 Heung Yip Road,
Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong or by email at ir@bihl.com.hk.

Shareholders can contact the Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer office of the Company if they have any enquiries about their
shareholdings, share registration and other related matters.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is
published on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, there had been no change to
the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

=
nl
ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Birmingham Sports Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
64 to 149, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
30 June 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss attributable to the
owners of the Company of approximately HK$40,661,000 for the
year ended 30 June 2022 and as at 30 June 2022 the Group had net
current liabilities of approximately HK$88,044,000. These conditions
indicate a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

(Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern section, we have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

() INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of intangible assets for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of intangible assets of approximately
HK$72,936,000 as at 30 June 2022 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
impairment test involves application of judgement and is based
on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:
- Assessing the valuation models used by the Group;

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of
the external valuers engaged by the Group;

—  Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with
the external valuers to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgements and assumptions applied in
the valuation models;

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
models to supporting evidence;

- Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation models;
and

—  Obtaining market data of the intangible assets.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for intangible
assets is supported by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

(Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

(m

()

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group measured its investment properties at fair value with
the changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated profit
or loss. This fair value measurement is significant to our audit
because the balance of investment properties of approximately
HK$477,594,000 as at 30 June 2022 and the fair value loss
of approximately HK$4,368,000 for the year then ended are
material to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
the Group’s fair value measurement involves application of
judgement and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of
the external valuer engaged by the Group;

- Obtaining the external valuation report and meeting with
the external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgements and assumptions applied in
the valuation model;

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence;

- Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model; and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in
the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s fair value measurement of the
investment properties is supported by the available evidence.

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Refer to note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of deposits, prepayments
and other receivables for impairment. This impairment test
is significant to our audit because the balance of deposits,
prepayments and other receivables of approximately
HK$135,445,000 as at 30 June 2022 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
impairment test involves application of judgement and is based
on estimates.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

(Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

(i) DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the Group’s procedures on granting credit limits
and credit periods to debtors;

—  Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction history
with the debtors;

- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

—  Assessing ageing of the debts;

—  Assessing creditworthiness of the debtors;

—  Checking subsequent settlements from the debtors; and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for deposits,
prepayments and other receivables is supported by the available
evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

(Continued)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

(Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s website
at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-
views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Chi Hoi

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07268
Hong Kong, 30 September 2022
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B 64

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT
OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

mEREkHEMEEKRER

INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2022 B 2202206 H30H IFF/E
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k3 FET FHET
Revenue Yz 8 220,939 165,023
Operating expenses LR (465,552) (427,136)
Loss from operations REER (244,613) (262,113)
Interest revenue PNl g 8,965 17,896
Other income HaA 10 12,715 16,321
Other gains and losses, net HEmas Rk EstE - 558 11 6,713 (3,713)
Football club segment compensation BXEkeniimE 201,318 -
Profit on sales of players’ registration HEREFMZE R 33,196 276,854
Amortisation of intangible assets A B O (65,322) (76,854)
Administrative and other expenses THREMAS (35,379) (50,134)
Finance costs & R AR 12 (25,361) (30,675)
Loss before taxation BREATEE (107,768) (112,418)
Income tax credit FrigtiE e 13 1 589
Loss for the year TEEEE 14 (107,767) (111,829
Other comprehensive income Hit2mE k=
Iltems that may be reclassified HERJGEEF EEE 0
subsequently to profit or loss: ZIEAH -
Exchange differences arising on BEGINHTB A RIS RR
translation of financial statements of EAECIERERE
overseas subsidiaries 25,766 11,853
Reclassification of translation reserve &M B A A4 B FE K # #
to profit or loss upon disposal of a ENHEERER
subsidiary - 8,378
25,766 20,231
Total comprehensive expense AEELEBXEE
for the year (82,001) (91,598)
Loss for the year attributable to: EBERFERSSE
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ N (40,661) (74,232)
Non-controlling interests eI IRt = (67,106) (37,597)
(107,767) (111,829)

BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED B8 5 R EMR A A



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT
OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME (Continueq,

GeEaREMEZEKRER &)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 A 220226 A30H I F I
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
et FETT FHET
Total comprehensive expense BiEAEE>mMBARHELE
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIEZ 2SN (47,291) (42,789)
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR I B (34,710) (48,809)
(82,001) (91,598)
Loss per share attributable to AATEBEAELESRER
owners of the Company
- Basic (HK cent) —BARGEN) 18 (0.21) (0.40)
— Diluted (HK cent) — 858 OE) 18 (0.21) (0.40)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF GEMBERREK
FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2022 R2022F6H30H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FET FET
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME  BENERE 19 34,341 32,516
Right-of-use assets FHREEE 20 70,262 86,943
Intangible assets B EE 21 72,936 140,983
Investment properties wEYE 22 477,594 481,962
Deposits, prepayments and other e FENREREAM
receivables e UG R 26 6,804 53,750
Total non-current assets FEMEBEEREE 661,937 796,154
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 24 54 378
Trade receivables JEWE 5 BRK 25 7,080 13,804
Deposits, prepayments and other Ee  BRNRBEREAm
receivables JE W R IA 26 128,641 221,670
Amount due from a related party JFE WL B8 iE 75 5 IR 30 184,384 -
Pledged bank deposits EEMBITER 7,616 8,600
Bank balances and cash RITHEHBERS 28,092 36,155
Total current assets MEEERT 355,867 280,607
Current liabilities REEE
Transfer fee payables ENEeE 27 15,919 17,266
Trade payables JERTE 5 R 28 18,983 10,104
Accruals and other payables JE &3R8 fe H At FE A R IE 29 63,320 75,455
Amount due to a related party FETREE 7 I8 30 246,995 213,359
Contract liabilities BEHBE 31 14,579 35,326
Borrowings B 32 74,754 184,435
Lease liabilities HEGE 33 9,361 11,686
Total current liabilities B A AR 443,911 547,631
Net current liabilities RBEETH (88,044) (267,024)
Total assets less current liabilities ¥EAFERRBER 573,893 529,130
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

GREMBERRER &)

As at 30 June 2022 R20224F6A30H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FET FET
Non-current liabilities kRBEME
Transfer fee payables ENEe 27 - 19,888
Borrowings B3 32 274,395 109,325
Lease liabilities HEaE 33 74,405 92,526
Deferred tax liabilities R IBE & 34 2,280 2,577
Total non-current liabilities FERBEERE 351,080 224,316
NET ASSETS EEFHE 222,813 304,814
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital & 7 35 192,890 192,890
Reserves {7 35 295,120 342,411
Equity attributable to owners of the RARHE AERGERS
Company 488,010 535,301
Non-controlling interests FEIERE = (265,197) (230,487)
TOTAL EQUITY EEEE 222,813 304,814

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 149 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the
Company on 30 September 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Zhao Wenqing
ii- B |
Director

EZE

FOABE1A9B 2R A M MERKE RN A E
EER20226F9A308 #E RIRETIE - I

HTIIEERERES

Huang Dongfeng
BERE

Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SEEREHR
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B 202296 /30H IFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAAERAEE
Share Non-
Share Share Capital ~ Translation options  Accumulated controlling
capital premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* losses* Total interests Total
A& KiveE  E4Rfr  EXRE  BRERE  ZiER &t FERER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT 781 AT AL A1 AT AT A1 AT
At 1 July 2021 R202157A1H 192,890 1,783,100 6,510 (63,947) 9474 (1,392,726 535,301 (230,487) 304,814
Share options lapsed X MEHRE - - - - (1,441) 1,441 - = -
Total comprehensive ~ AEE2ERT
expense for the year 8% - - - (6,630) - (40,661) (47,291) (34,710) (82,001)
At 30 June 2022 12022468308 192,890 1,783,100 6,510 (70,577) 8,033  (1,431,946) 488,010 (265,197) 222,813
At 1 July 2020 20205718 177,100 1,663,733 6,510 (95,390) 7,159 (1,382,369) 326,747 (26,518) 300,229
Recognition of equity- LA RELE
seftled share-based DAk BER
payments expense T - - - - 2,315 - 2,315 - 2,315
Issue of shares upon (R EEBE
share placing it 5,164 64,550 - - - - 69,714 - 69,714
Transaction costs ROREZRS
attrioutable to share~ f{&
placing - (1,280) - - - - (1,230) - (1,230)
Issue of shares upon TR REB %7
share subscription ’in 10,626 156,198 - - - - 166,824 - 166,824
Transaction costs (BB RS
attributable to share iR
subscriptions - (151) - - - - (151) - (151)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FEHEA - - - - - - - 25,126 25,126
Changes in ownership B A THFA
interests in subsidiaries EiE#EEMIE
without change of HETE
control - - - - - 13,871 18871 (180286)  (166,415)
Total comprehensive ~ AEE2EHR
expense for the year % - - - 31,443 - (74,232) (42,789) (48,809) (91,599)
At 30 June 2021 202156308 192,890 1,783,100 6,510 (63,947) 9474 (1,392,726) 536,301 (230,487) 304,814
*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves in the * ZEREGHREKGEVERIRSP ZEE

consolidated statement of financial position. it o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

RERERER

CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2022 B E20220F6 H30H 1FF/E
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHZ2HER
ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation B 56 B 5 18 (107,768) (112,418)
Adjustments for: PR
Finance costs B & AR A 25,361 30,675
Interest revenue ISRl (8,965) (17,896)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BENEEITE
equipment 7,026 11,389
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZTE 9,274 9,807
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH 65,322 76,854
Share-based payments expense LARR D B ER 2 R = 2,315
Profit on sale of players’ registration HE B8 s it 2 % F (33,196) (276,854)
Impairment loss on intangible assets BmEEAEZREERE = 812
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets {# & &E v BB B 1,075 10,049
Reversal of impairment loss on FREEEZREREBZER
right-of-use assets (371) -
Fair value change on investment wEWMEZ NTEE
properties 4,368 48,672
Impairment loss on trade receivables JEWE Z R 2B IEEE 1,324 102
Reversal of impairment loss on trade JEWE ZERFORERE 2 &
receivables - (61)
Fixed assets written off sEEE B E = 10
Reversal of impairment loss on other H i EWER FUREEE 2 & D
receivables (1) (1,677)
Impairment loss on other receivables o FE YRR 3R 2 R (B B 1R - 1
Impairment loss on goodwiill BEZBERIE - 5,600
Gain on termination of lease agreement 4% |FfH & % 2 Wi (37) 3)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE  WMENMREZWES
plant and equipment - (2)
Gain on bargain purchase of EREGE NG €
subsidiaries - (15)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB A A 2 s - (74,223)
Loss on extinguishing financial NiEmTEEGRemaBEHE
liabilities with equity instruments - 26,830
Fair value gain on derivative financial PESBTAEZ AFEKRZ
instruments - (14,017)
Operating cash flows before working BEECEHRII 2 KERER
capital changes (36,588) (274,050)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF LERERERB)
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Change in inventories FTEZ2EE 302 569
Change in trade receivables EWE SRR & 4,055 (7,600)
Change in deposits, prepayments and &% - 78 - 3018 & H #f fE Ik
other receivables HIBZ B E 28,362 (79,834)
Change in amount due from a related  JE U f83& /5 3118 ~ ¥ &)
party (201,318) -
Change in trade payables ENESERZE 10,957 (8,156)
Change in other payables and accruals — E b fi& (< 7018 2 fE 51 5008 ~ & (10,320) 15,413
Change in deferred capital grants i IR =) - (544)
Change in contract assets EREEZEY - 140
Change in contract liabilities aRBaBEZES (18,238) 27,019

Net cash flows used in operating RETHFFAZEESRFE
activities (222,788) (327,043)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZBHZ2EHER

ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of property, plant and WEME - BE REE

equipment (12,804) (8,671)
Acquisition of intangible assets WIEEREE (23,150) (57,899
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME  BEMRE

plant and equipment Zﬁﬁ?—%?ﬂ = 760
Acquisition of a subsidiary Uy B Bt B - 1,153
Proceeds from disposal of interest in HEMBA 7*& 5 0 4 Hr

subsidiaries without loss of control 2= I 4 T 1S 5RIR - 56,200
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries &K /&E A 7 Fr 15 78 = 120,280
Proceeds from disposals of intangible & ® & &E 158

assets 129,917 199,053
Interest received 2 U FE 1,205 4,762
Net cash flows generated from RETHEEZ

investing activities BERFHE 95,168 320,638
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

SGEBRERERE)

B E20220F6 H30H 1FF/E

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEEFHZ2HER
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from new borrowings MERZBHE 209,734 468,155
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAE (7,345) (6,570)
Repayment of borrowings BEEXR (141,586) (515,067)
Net proceeds from share placing DB E 2 TS RIBF 58 = 68,484
Advance from a related party RERBER 2B 63,379 24,805
Interest paid B E (19,270) (32,940)
Net cash flows generated from REETHEEZ2RESRFE
financing activities 104,912 6,867
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN ReEhBFEESEEEE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R A) & F5E (22,708) 462
Cash and cash equivalents at FYzHEeRkREeFHEEE
beginning of year 36,155 31,170
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [ &R & &) & 14,645 4,523
Cash and cash equivalents FRzEeRESZEEE
at the end of year 28,092 36,155
ANALYSIS OF BALANCESOF CASH B &¢REEZEHEBEH 2
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EER D AT
Bank balances and cash WITHEBRRIE S 28,092 36,155
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2022

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Birmingham Sports Holdings Limited was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. The registered
office and the principal place of business of the Company is
disclosed in the Corporate Information section of this annual
report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the principal activities of its major subsidiaries are engaged
in the operation of a professional football club in the UK and
other related business, properties investment in Cambodia
and healthcare and medical related business (“Healthcare
Business”).

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The functional currency of the
Company is Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars for the
convenience of users of the consolidated financial statements
as the Company is listed in Hong Kong.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Listing Rules and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis, as modified by revaluation
of investment properties, which are carried at their fair
values. They are presented in HK$ and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when
otherwise indicated.

BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED B8 5 R EMR A A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) Going concern basis

The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$40,661,000 for the year
ended 30 June 2022 and as at 30 June 2022 the Group
had net current liabilities of approximately HK$88,044,000.
These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore,
the Group may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis. The Directors are of the opinion
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall due for the
next twelve months after taking into consideration that (i)
the Group has a loan facility from a substantial shareholder
of the Company, Trillion Trophy Asia Limited (“Trillion
Trophy”) under which an unsecured revolving loan facility
up to HK$250,000,000 has been granted to the Company;
(i) the Group has a loan facility from Oriental Rainbow
Investments Limited (“Oriental Rainbow”), a non-controlling
shareholder of subsidiaries of the Company and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of a substantial shareholder of the
Company under which an unsecured revolving loan facility
up to HK$300,000,000 has been granted to the Company;
(iii) the Group has a loan facility from Great Summit
Ventures Limited (“Great Summit”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of a substantial shareholder of the Company
under which an unsecured revolving loan facility up to
HK$100,000,000 has been granted to the Company; and
(iv) the Group has a loan facility with aggregate amount of
approximately HK$23,396,000 from a third party lender.

As at 30 June 2022, the total carrying amount of the
borrowings under the above facilities of the Group was
approximately HK$246,783,000. As at 30 June 2022,
the Group had approximately HK$426,613,000 undrawn
borrowing facilities available.

R MRS AR M R ()

£ 202246 F30H 1 F/E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

HREMBHRRMET )

HE202206 A30H IFF/E
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2. RBEE(E)

(b) Going concern basis (Continued)

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. Should the Group be
unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to the consolidated financial statements
to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and
liabilities as current assets and liabilities, respectively.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA that are relevant to
its operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 July 2021. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards; Hong Kong Accounting Standards; and
Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs
did not result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting
policies, presentation of the Group’s financial statements and
amounts reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already
commenced an assessment of the impact of these new
HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether these
new HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results of
operations and financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements and
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made
up to 30 June. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s
returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

4.

(a)

Consolidation (Continued)

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination. The
cost of acquisition is measured at the acquisition-date
fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses
in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. |dentifiable assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess
of the Company’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase which is attributed to the Company.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest in the subsidiary were recognised in other
comprehensive income (for example, equity investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income), the
amount that was recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised on the same basis as would
be required if the previously held equity interest were
disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. The method of
measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as
that of other assets as stated in the accounting policy
below. Impairment losses of goodwill are recognised
in consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s
identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

4.

BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED B8 5 R EMR A A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”).
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Group’s presentation

currency.

(ij) Transactions and balances in each entity’s

financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rates at the end of
each reporting period. Gains and losses resulting
from this translation policy are recognised in profit or

loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
values in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are

determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain

or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

R MRS AR M R ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B F 20226 A30A 1L FE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEEFHBEE)
(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued) (c) HHmE (&)
(iii) Translation on consolidation (iii) HEREFETEE

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

o Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

o Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

o All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

(d)
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Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less W B MR TIERR AR R
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. FHTE REMBEEEBYIER

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying WEZIBE A2 BRE&ER =
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, BrRiggEmARNER  RZHEBX
only when it is probable that future economic benefits Regn st =R - A HBKAT
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the ABEREEXERAERNE
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs E(@EA) - fra Em s MR
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the BEREELEHMTESER

period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

4.

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(e)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

1% - 10%

Over the shorter of the term
of the lease, or 20%

20% — 33%

Land and buildings
Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment

Motor vehicles 20% - 33%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method

are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of

each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. An investment property
including property that is being constructed or developed
for future use as investment property is measured initially
at its cost including all direct costs attributable to the
property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at
its fair value based on valuation by an external independent
valuer. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
the investment property are recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the property, and is recognised in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

4.

U]

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets
are available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is
calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Land 1%
Buildings 10% — 50%
Equipment 33% - 50%

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Short-term leases are leases with an initial lease term of
12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value
below US$5,000.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is fair value at the
date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their
useful lives as follows. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. The amortisation expense is recognised
in profit or loss and included in administrative and

operating expenses.

Membership

Acquired players’ registration

Costs of acquisition of players’ registration are initially
recognised at cost at the date of acquisition and amortised
over the period of the respective player’s contract, being
between one to five years. A provision is made in accruals,
where in management’s opinion, the player is likely to
achieve a contractually agreed number of first team
appearances. Where the outcome of this is uncertain, the
maximum amount payable is disclosed as a contingent

liability.

For the purposes of impairment testing, acquired players’
registration are classified as a single cash generating unit

until the point at which:

o it is made clear that the player no longer remains
as an active member of the playing squad. In these
circumstances the carrying value of the players’
registration is reviewed against a measurable net

realisable value; or

° the carrying amount of a registration will be recovered
through sale. The measurement of such registration is
at the lower of (i) fair value (less costs of disposal) and
(i) carrying value. Amortisation of such registration
is suspended at the time of reclassification,
although impairment charges still need to be made if

applicable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

4.

(h)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average basis. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of all production overhead
expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting
charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus
directly attributable transaction costs except in the case of
investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following category:

()  Financial assets at amortised cost:

Financial assets (including trade and other
receivables) are classified under this category if they
satisfy both of the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less loss
allowance for expected credit losses.
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B 84

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

(i) Investments at fair value through profit or loss:

Financial assets are classified under this category
if they do not meet the conditions to be measured
at amortised cost and the conditions of debt
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is not held for trading as at fair
value through other comprehensive income on initial

recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised
in profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss are net of any interest
income and dividend income. Interest income and
dividend income are recognised in profit or loss.

() Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost and contract
assets. Expected credit losses are the weighted average of
credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring

as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of that
financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) for
trade receivables and contract assets, or if the credit risk
on that financial instrument has increased significantly

since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on
a financial instrument (other than trade receivables and
contract assets) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion
of lifetime expected credit losses that represents the
expected credit losses that result from default events on
that financial instrument that are possible within 12 months

after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

4.

1)

(k)

U

(m)

(n)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses
(Continued)

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An
equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific
financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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B 86

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

(p)

(q)

(r)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives (including contingent considerations under
business combinations) are initially recognised and
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities relate to amounts received from
sponsorships and sale of season tickets and is released
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period to
which it relates.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer with reference to
the customary business practices and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised product or service exceeds
one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over
time if:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED =
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

M BHRRHE @)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B E20220F6 H30H 1FF/E
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEEHBERE)

() Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) (n BEFE#HWE(E)
If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is WMEARBETR —BREBET
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete Al E D2 ZRBAEENTRE
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, ERR TR WENREFES
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer = o ok AR A5 4 R I AR o
obtains control of the product or service.

(s) Other revenue (s) Httz
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over HASWARTHERNIZEZERER ©
the lease term.
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis FIBMAZERELAEERARE
using the effective interest method. MR BOATERR o

() Segment reporting t) oWHSE
Operating segments and the amounts of each segment BED RN BREPREN
item reported in the financial statements are identified from FE 218 B REBH I E K
the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s R M ER AT BRE T
most senior executive management for the purpose of AEEBZERITHEEAE
allocating resources and assessing the performance of the MALBESEEBSRER I
Group’s various lines of business. AR E S EERHRE -
Individually material operating segments are not BRIEDMBOLERFEBMAU - B
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the EmkREHEE £EBEME
segments have similar economic characteristics and g OBEEEANER  BUSH
are similar in respect of the nature of products and EmdiEHREN X REE
services, the nature of productions processes, the type REMEEFEHEAEL - & RER
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the FEANKEDHL T RERIE
products or provide the services, and the nature of the WEMSHEF - MERIEEX
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are ) 4% & 5 2B ﬁ\ﬂﬁﬁiLK*B
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a BRFEL - R EEG EL &5
majority of these criteria.

(u) Employee benefits (v EEEF

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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B 88

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(u) Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents

contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the

payment of termination benefits.

(v) Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees, directors and

consultants

Pursuant to the terms of the Company’s share option
scheme, the Group may issue equity-settled share-based
payments to participants including, among others,

directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding
the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of
the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair
value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect

of non market-based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or if
the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably
measured, at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group

receives the services and is recognised as an expense.

BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED B8 5 R EMR A A

FmEMBHRRMET )

B E 20226 H30H I FIE
4. ITEFHBEK(E)

(v EERFE)

v)

(i) EBUkLEF
AEBAFMARBRMTERE
HHRIKGHE - AEE R IE
Bt EEE 2 R IRIE
RBREEAHF 2B DT
B MR AR ZRIKE
FIEtBIK N IE R EEER T
BRES ZHHR -

(iii) B¢ 25 7
BERR R R AR AR E BT R
ERHZERA I REE
BREBAXAIL P R I
BER (RS RE) E
=,
UREZEURDAERITZ
x5

BTREE EEkBERzBRE

RIBA QR RE B 8 2 3K
AEETR2EE (BFETRR
BE - EERERM) BITARES
BB BER AT 2 5KIE -

AR AE R AR AR 2
WETEERESBRBRATAR
A2 AT B (R aEUIE T 5
RERZ BBEETE)HE - R
BRI EARD AERS
HzREEABEE AFEER
AEE Y REHE 2R 2 i
BESRERRBHIH WM
ETIB AR BBEEYEE
GELER

AR EE AR D BER SN2
RETEEZEMERRE Z A
Bt 8 IWARERE 2 AF
BEARBEAISEFT B - Al P H AR
ARTRAZRAVERE - RFER
AEEEIRHBAHFAE T
BRR/F -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

4.

(v)

(w)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to employees, directors and
consultants (Continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to share capital and share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
the accumulated losses within the consolidated statement
of changes in equity.

After vesting date, when the share options are forfeited
prior to the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in the share options reserve will be transferred to the
accumulated losses within the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

4.

(x)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model of the Group whose business objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred
tax for such investment properties are measured based
on the expected manner as to how the properties will be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(y) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the

Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i

(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i

(i)

(iv)

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

4.

(v)

(2)

Related parties (Continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

(vi) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.

Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not
yet available for use are reviewed annually for impairment
and are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount
may not be recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
except goodwill, investment,
inventories and receivables to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

investment properties,

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

4.

(2)

(aa)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as
a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

4.

(bb) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the Directors
have made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements (apart from those involving estimations, which are
dealt with below).

(a)

(b)

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the financial support of Trillion Trophy,
Oriental Rainbow, Great Summit and a third party and the
facilities at a level sufficient to finance the working capital
requirements of the Group. Details of which are explained
in note 2.

Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded that the
Group’s investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in determining the Group’s deferred tax for investment
properties, the Directors have rebutted the presumption
that investment properties measured using the fair value
model are recovered through sale.
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B 96

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below:

(a) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual
values and related depreciation charges for the Group’s
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
and residual values of property, plant and equipment
of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation charge where useful lives and residual
values are different to those previously estimated, or
it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

(b) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
assets exceeds their recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is determined with reference to the fair value
less costs of disposal. Where the fair value less costs of
disposal are less than expected or there are unfavourable
events and change in facts and circumstance which result
in revision of fair value less costs of disposal, a material
impairment loss may arise.

(c) Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Directors periodically review its receivables to assess
whether impairment exists. In determining whether
impairment should be provided, the Directors evaluated
individually each account for impairment after taking into
account the value of each client account’s underlying
collateral and the latest financial position of those clients in
default of settlement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Player transfer costs

Management has to make certain judgements as to
whether a liability should be recognised under the terms of
the contracts with other football clubs in respect of player
transfers. This includes whether in the management’s
opinion, at the end of the reporting period, the football club
is likely to retain English Football League Championship
status in the next season. It also requires certain
judgements as to whether a player will continue to make
the contractually agreed number of first team appearances.
Based on these judgements, management will decide on
a player by player basis as to whether the liability should
be disclosed as a contingent liability in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements or whether it becomes
a liability and is recognised in transfer fee payable in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Intangible assets - acquire players’ registration

At the end of each reporting period, the management
considers the recoverability of the acquired players’
registration based on current estimated fair values.
Management considers the economic life of the players’
registration to be between one to five years, based on the
respective players’ contracts. These are reviewed annually
on a player by player basis to determine whether there are
indicators of impairment. Determining whether the players’
registration should be impaired at the end of the reporting
period is based on management’s judgement of whether
the player will no longer remain an active member of the
playing squad and an assessment of the football club’s
likeliness to retain English Football League Championship
status in the next season as well as the current market
value of the players.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(f)

(9)

Intangible assets - trademark

In accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”, the
Group completed its annual impairment test for trademark
by comparing their recoverable amount to its carrying
amount as at 30 June 2022. The Group has conducted
a valuation of the trademark based on its fair value less
cost of disposal. The impairment test has resulted no
impairment loss on the carrying amount of trademark.
The fair value of trademark as at 30 June 2022 did not
vary significantly from the carrying value of trademark.
Accordingly, no impairment has been recognised in
respect of the trademark for the year ended 30 June
2022. This valuation uses the relief from royalty method
to determine the present worth of future after-tax royalties
derived from ownership. Management believes that any
reasonably foreseeable change in any of the above key
assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying
amount of trademark to exceed the aggregate recoverable
amount. Further details are given in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Fair values of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer
to assess the fair values of the investment properties.
In determining the fair values, the valuer has utilised a
method of valuation which involves certain estimates. The
directors have exercised their judgement and are satisfied
that the method of valuation is reflective of the current
market conditions.

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest
bearing loans, and cash and cash equivalents. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise funding for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities, such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The board of directors of the Company reviews and agrees
on policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

6.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

Certain transactions and monetary assets and liabilities of
the Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars which
is different from the functional currency of the Group
entities, i.e. GBP, RMB, USD and JPY, which expose the
Group currency risk. The Group currently does not use
any derivative contracts to hedge against its exposure
to currency risk. The management manages its foreign
currency risk by monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rate and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s businesses are mainly located in the UK and
are mainly transacted and settled in Pounds Sterling, as
such, the Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are mainly transacted
and settled in RMB, as such, the Group has minimal
exposure to foreign currency risk.

Celestial Fame Investment (Cambodia) Co., Ltd. (“Celestial
Fame Cambodia”) and Deep Blue Trade (Cambodia) Co.,
Ltd. (“Deep Blue”), two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, are engaged in properties investment business
in Cambodia and are mainly transacted and settled in
US dollars. Since Hong Kong dollars is pegged to US
dollars, the risk of volatility between US dollars and Hong
Kong dollars is limited and the directors of the Company
consider that the foreign currency risk is minimal.

Medi Hub Co., Ltd. and Mirai Iryo Sango Co., Ltd., two
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, are engaged
in healthcare and medical related business in Japan and
are mainly transacted and settled in Japanese Yen. The
businesses are mainly located in Japan and are mainly
transacted and settled in Japanese Yen, as such, the
Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group did not have any long-term loans with a
floating interest rate during the years ended 30 June 2022
and 2021, so the Group was not exposed to the risk of
changes in market interest rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED R
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

EMBHRRHEE @)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B E202246 A30H IFFE/E
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. ERIEAREREZ)
(c) Credit risk (c) FERK
The carrying amount of (i) bank balances and cash and (i) AEERESRMEEMAR &R

trade and other receivables included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the Group’s
financial assets.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group considers whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing
basis throughout each reporting period by comparing the
risk of a default occurring as at the reporting date with
the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.
It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the following
information is used:

° internal credit rating;

° actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligations;

° actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the debtor;

. significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

° significant changes in the value of the collateral or in
the quality of guarantees or credit enhancements; and

e  significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the debtor, including changes in the
payment status of debtor.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

6.

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor
is more than 30 days past due in making a contractual
payment. A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contractual payments within 60
days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage
in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally
categorises a loan or receivable for write off when a debtor
fails to make contractual payments greater than 360 days
past due. Where loans or receivables have been written
off, the Group, if practicable and economical, continues to
engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the
receivable due.

The Group uses two categories for non-trade receivables
which reflect their credit risk and how the loss provision is
determined for each of the categories. In calculating the
expected credit loss rates, the Group considers historical
loss rates for each category and adjusts for forward
looking data.
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Category Definition Loss provision il T=® BiERE
Performing Low risk of default and 12 month expected B# EEHERNE +Z{EAEH
strong capacity to pay ~ losses aReEn  BE
Non-performing ~ Significant increase Lifetime expected TRY) EERR S HTEHEE
in credit risk losses BEE LN
Related party Total
At 30 June 2022 7202256 A30H BER Foby
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
Amount due from € e 184,384 184,384
Provision for loss allowance sHREERG _ _
Carrying amounts BRMEE 184,384 184,384

All of non-trade receivables are considered to have low risk
and under the ‘Performing’ category because they have
a low risk of default and have strong ability to meet their
obligations.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of each reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payment, was as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED mEMBHRRMEEE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B 202296 /30H IFFE
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. SRERERE)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d REBEESERE(E)
At 30 June 2022 #2022F6H30H
In the
Within third to
one year fifth years,
or on In the inclusive
demand second RE=FZE Over
R—FR year FRE(BE  five years Total
FIERER REZF HEWE) EENE “m
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FAET FET
Transfer fee payables EREEE 15,919 - - - 15,919
Trade payables ERE SRR 18,983 - - - 18,983
Accruals and other JER B R E A
payables R A 63,320 - - - 63,320
Amount due to a related party {7 B13E 77 5B 246,995 - - - 246,995
Borrowings B 74,754 212,850 61,038 507 349,149
Notional interest on transfer ~ JE{f& &%
fee payables ZEFE 1,274 - - - 1,274
Interest portion of borrowings &3 7 7 £ 26 {3 1,137 15,070 6,883 7 23,097
422,382 227,920 67,921 514 718,737
At 30 June 2021 R20215E6 8308
In the third
Within to fifth years,
one year inclusive
or on demand Inthe ME=FZ Over
R—ER  secondyear FRE (B five years Total
FIRER REZF BEEMEF) AFENE B

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET

Transfer fee payables EfEe B 17,266 19,888 - - 37,154
Trade payables ENE SRR 10,104 - - - 10,104
Accruals and other JEFT AR EAM
payables EftzE 75,455 - - - 75,455
Amount due to a related party T BIE 5 ZIA 213,359 - - - 213,359
Borrowings BR 184,435 80,180 28,946 199 293,760
Notional interest on ErEes
transfer fee payables LEFE 1,381 3,182 - - 4,563
Interest portion of borrowings &3 7 7 8 567 4,643 3,507 1,447 - 9,597
506,643 106,757 30,393 199 643,992
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

mEMBRRMEE #)
B F20229F6 H30H IFF/E
6. SREAREE(#)

() ABESER ()

Categories of financial instruments THEITAEF
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Financial assets: ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BHERATEZESREE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BEFRERRESEEER) 351,852 325,265
Financial liabilities: cResE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHERAGFE s 2RBE 694,366 629,832

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The following
disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy
that categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers

out of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

FmEMBHRRMET )

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. ATHETEGE)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy (@ ARFEERKEE
Description Fair value measurements using Total
i FANTEASEZAFETE et
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2022
E—& Bk E=R 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
Recurring fair value BREMEATHETE:
measurements:
Investment properties EME
Commercial and residential FERET
— Cambodia - SR E - 477,594 477,594
Total recurring fair value REMATETE
measurements e - 477,594 477,594
Description Fair value measurements using Total
it ERATHARE Y AF@ES st
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2021
E—R E—H S 20214
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Recurring fair value REMATETE:
measurements:
Investment properties "EYHE
Commercial and residential mEREE
- Cambodia - RIEE - 481,962 481,962
Total recurring fair value BEMATEFE
measurements i zE - 481,962 481,962
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED GEMBHRRMET 2)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B E20220F6 H30H 1FF/E
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AFEFEE)

(b) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (b) AEEATHRAE B EFEF RN F
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value 1B 51 2 AT ER A B 12 (B B 1 R 3 A
measurements L g Ykid
Level 2 fair value measurements F-_RAFETE

Fair value
AFE
Description Valuation technique Input 2022 2021
#Hut ik (B B9 BWABE 20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Commercial and residential Market comparable Price per square
investment properties approach meter
— Cambodia
AEREEREME gL BE ¥ G KRERE
—SRiEEE 477,594 481,962
8. REVENUE 8. W&

Revenue represents amount receivable for goods sold and Wz IR B E R RIER IR P

services provided to external customers in the normal course HEEMEIRHRE 2 EUFIAN K%

of business and rental income from investment properties, after BYMEZHLUA > BHBRAHOETE

deducting discounts and excluding value added tax or other I ERS A EEMAEEIE A&

sales related taxes. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the B2FARZDTEHINMOT :

year is as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED GREMBHRRMEE 2
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
8. REVENUE (Continued) 8. Wz (#&)
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Disaggregation of revenue: Wi 5 88
Revenue from contracts with customers HEEF&#H 2
Recognised at a point in time RE— IR E#EZ
Commercial income EEIA 11,929 10,629
Match day receipts BREH WA 15,557 -
Healthcare Business REEZETS 1,047 5,917
28,533 16,546
Recognised over time R—BERMAEZ
Commercial income [SEILON 28,045 16,013
Broadcasting & 88,645 97,342
Match day receipts BREH WA 28,835 -
Lottery system and online payment system FERG RIEZM R
service solutions (“System Service RERIS IR &
Solutions”) (IR RGRRTE]D) - 3,503
145,525 116,858
174,058 133,404
Revenue from other sources H ARz W=
Commercial income U A 18,702 3,440
Rental income WA 28,179 28,179
46,881 31,619
220,939 165,023
Revenue from contracts with customers comprise: HEEALHZWE
(i)  Match day receipts ) EEHKA
- Match day receipts for the football match tickets are - HKEMEZREARARE
recognised when the match was held. ITIRERER -
- Match day receipts for sales of season tickets are - HEEFMEZKEAKA
recognised on a yearly basis. RETER o
(i) Broadcasting (i) B
- Television and broadcasting income are recognised - BEREEBBARE DM
over the contract period. R o

. ‘I O 6 BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED {4885 &= R AR A S



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

8.

REVENUE (Continued)
(i)  Commercial income
- Catering and programme sales are recognised when

control of the products has been transferred or when
the services are rendered.

- Royalties, advertising and sponsorship are recognised
over the contract period.

(iv) Healthcare Business
- Healthcare Business are recognised when control

of the products has been transferred or when the
services are rendered.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by operating segments, based on the information provided to
the chief operating decision maker representing the Board, for
the purposes of allocating resources to segments and assessing
their performance. This is also the basis upon which the Group
is arranged and organised.

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group has three (2021:

four) reportable and operating segments as follows:

()  operation of a professional football club in the UK and
other related business;

(i) investment in properties; and

(iii)  the Healthcare Business.

HREMBHRRMET )

B 220226 A30H IF FE
8. W= (£&)
(i) A EHA

- ERREEAEEEREM
2 2 BB SR IR R

B RR o
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RE KRR ER -

(iv) REXF

- REXBRERZHESS
B RREHREERER -

UTRRESBTEFERRIEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

FmEMBHRRMET )

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. 2WER(E)
Segment revenue and results MR EE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results UTAAEBEERREEHHE D
by reportable and operating segments: A EYSES ok
Football Investment in Healthcare

For the year ended H£2022F6A30H club properties Business Total

30 June 2022 LFE ERRE MERE REEEL HEt

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET

Segment revenue Pl €
External sales HINHE 191,713 28,179 1,047 220,939
Results EF
Segment results DEEE (66,776) 21,019 (4,873) (50,630)
Interest revenue B W= 5
Other income Hab g A 157
Other gains and losses, net Hip e RIEE - F58 (17,646)
Corporate expenses Tr¥EBAR (33,049)
Finance costs B &R AR (6,605)
Loss before taxation KRR EE (107,768)
Income tax credit FIEHE® 1
Loss for the year REEFEERE (107,767)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

HREMBHRRMET )

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B E20220F6 H30H 1FF/E
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. ZHBER (&)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) PHBERER(E)
System
Service
Football Investment in Solutions Healthcare
For the year ended HZ202146A30H club properties AR Business Total
30 June 2021 t5E BHRe ESE BARR REES @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FET FET FET FET
Segment revenue A5
External sales HMVEE 127,424 28,179 3,503 5,917 165,023
Results E4
Segment results NEEE 4,836 (24,249) 10,004 (4,016) (13,425)
Interest revenue 8% 13
Other income Hi A 792
Other gains and losses, net ~ Eftlizs R E1E - 3% (36,174)
Corporate expenses PEER (46,840)
Finance costs BEKA (16,784)
Loss before taxation BRAEE (112,418)
Income tax credit FERES 589
Loss for the year rEEEE (111,829)
Segment results represent the profit or loss incurred by each DHEBREDEERSBEE TR EMK

segment without allocation of certain interest revenue, other o AU HAb e R EE - E
income, other gains and losses, corporate expenses, finance BE - BIERAMBHEREMERIZ
costs and income tax credit. M Bk ELE 2B E -

F 3 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 1 09 .



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

FmEMBHRRMET )

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B 202296 /30H IFFE
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. HHBER (&)
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERAME
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities TINAAREEIZA 2H KL EDFE D
by reportable and operating segments: ZEEREBEIN
Football Investment in Healthcare
club properties Business Total
ERRE MERE REBE #et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
As at 30 June 2022 74202266 A30H
Segments assets PHEE 477,594 3,423 809,243
Segments liabilities S HAE (453,460) (10,003) (1,852,477)
As at 30 June 2021 720216 430H
Segments assets DEEE 489,007 5,549 1,043,162
Segments liabilities SEEE (485,866) (8,522) (1,964,940)
Reconciliations of reportable assets and liabilities: AE2EREERBEZEHE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments AZ2WMDEcEERE 809,243 1,043,162
Unallocated corporate assets RO ARIEE 208,561 33,599
Consolidated total assets e BERE 1,017,804 1,076,761
Liabilities afE
Total liabilities of reportable segments AW BaERE (1,852,477) (1,964,940)
Elimination of payable to corporate 41 4 B < R R 4B EB 3R I8
headquarters 1,322,334 1,266,869
Other liabilities HubafE (264,848) (73,876)
Consolidated total liabilities LEBaERE (794,991) (771,947)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

9.

Geographical information

The following is an analysis of geographical location of the
Group’s (i) revenue from external customers; and (i) non-current
assets presented based on the location of operations and

geographical location of assets respectively.

(i)

Revenue from external customers

R MRS AR M R ()

B 220226 A30H IF FE
9. 2BVER (&)
HEER

(i) XKENBEFZ Yz

TIBAKE)REIN RS 2 Wt
R()ERBEE 2RI - ThDRIR
BREMUNEEIHRET -

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
The UK kY
Revenue from contracts with customers: HEFAEHNZ W -
Recognised at a point in time R — 5 B B w57 27,486 10,629
Recognised over time R — BRI [E] AT 3R 144,703 113,355
Revenue from other sources HAth SR 2 W s 18,702 3,440
190,891 127,424
The PRC 2]
Revenue from contracts with customers: HEFAHZWE :
Recognised over time R — BRI [E] AT 3R 822 -
822 -
Cambodia RIFE
Revenue from contracts with customers: HEFANZWE -
Recognised over time R — BRI [E] AT 3R - 3,503
Revenue from other sources H b 3R 2 W= 28,179 28,179
28,179 31,682
Japan =[N
Revenue from contracts with customers: HEEAHZWE :
Recognised at a point in time R — I [ 2 57 1,047 5,917
1,047 5,917
220,939 165,023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED mEMBHRRMEEE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. HHBER (&)
Geographical information (Continued) & &R ()
(i) Non-current assets (i) FrnBEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Hong Kong B 1,704 3,458
The PRC H 76 94
Cambodia R 477,594 481,962
The UK R 182,318 310,317
Japan =N 245 323
661,937 796,154
Information about major customers ERXERFZER
Revenue from major customers, each of whom accounted for REFEEP (FEMHERE 210%3K
10% or more of total revenue is set out as below: LA E) 2 Wa=H 5 mT
Segment 2022 2021
73 HB 20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Customer A Investment in properties 28,179 28,179
EFA MERE
10. OTHER INCOME 10. HfpWA
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bz FET FET
Subsidies received from the Premier B 5% 5 8 4 & BB &

League EEzHDe (i 12,026 7,620
Reversal of provision for directors’ fee & S84 2 B &[] - 4
Government subsidies BUS 8 B) (i) 669 8,075
Sundry income HMIEWA 20 622

12,715 16,321
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
10. OTHER INCOME (Continued)

Notes:

11.

(0

(i)

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group’s professional
football operation received funding of approximately
HK$12,026,000 (2021: approximately HK$7,620,000) from the
Premier League in the UK under the Elite Player Performance
Plan upon fulfilment of certain terms and conditions.

These represent COVID-19-related grants provided by various
government to retain employees who may otherwise be made
redundant and to support businesses affected by COVID-19
respectively. The subsidies are unconditional and granted on a
discretionary basis to the Group during the year.

R MRS AR M R ()

B 220226 A30H IF FE
10. Hfhlg A (&)
izt -

(i)

(i)

RE E202296 301 It F E
M AEBEZBERKEBERET
R R ER % - RIERBHKE
FEFEEABERBBAL
Rt EEFE £ 412,026,000 7T
(20214 : #7,620,0005 7T ) °

ZEWA B H TRt B
COVID-1918R8 2 # B) - LAIREE Al 8k
WHEZBTURZ#HFCOVID-19
FEEE - TR ZSHPAE
BHEMBBERTARER -

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 1. HbBEREE FE
2022 2021
20225 20214
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
W iF FET FHET
Impairment loss on intangible assets & EE 2 R{EE 1B = (812)
Impairment loss on goodwill R REEE - (5,600)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets {§ A& & 2 A EE 1B (1,075) (10,049)
Reversal of impairment loss on FRAEEERESEZ
right-of-use assets B o] 371 -
Fair value change on investment REWEZAFEESF
properties (4,368) (48,672)
Insurance compensation arising on ECOVID-198 B 75
business interruption caused by 8 1 B A 2 IR 1B
COVID-19 28,727 -
Fair value gain on derivative financial {74 4@ LA~
instruments NEERE - 14,017
Foreign exchange loss HNE E5 18 (i) (16,979) -
Gain on termination of lease WIrERE 2 ks
agreement 37 3
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEWE  BENMKRE
and equipment 2 W Es - 2
Fixed assets written off MEHEEEE - (10)
Gain on bargain purchase of EEWENB AR WS
subsidiaries - 15
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEM B AR 2 W = 74,223
Loss on extinguishing financial ARAT BB
liabilities with equity instruments BEzEE = (26,830)
6,713 (3,713)
Note: Maz

Foreign exchange loss mainly arose from the football club
segment compensation, all are denominated in Pounds
Sterling (“GBP”) which depreciated against Hong Kong dollars
during the year ended 30 June 2022.

(i)

NEBBFERABKEHKRERE S
Bl YA ([38]) #HE -
R E 2202256 A30H 1 F Z #I [
EHEHBILEME-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

FmEMBHRRMET )

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
12. FINANCE COSTS 12. MER X
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Interest expenses on: ATEEBEZFERE :
— Other borrowings —HMER 6,116 16,437
- Bank borrowings —RITER 2,497 6,508
— Imputed interest arising on interest-free — 2k B Football League
borrowings from Football League Limited ([ Football
Limited (“Football League”) Leaguel) 2 % B E K
EEZHENE 3,071 695
— Notional interest on transfer fee payables —EfEesd s ZEFE 2,858 3,465
- Lease liabilities —HEAE 10,819 3,570
25,361 30,675

13. INCOME TAX CREDIT 13. FiISBiESR

Income tax credit in consolidated statement of profit or loss and reERkEMEEmNERAZFER

other comprehensive income represents: TR
2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$°000 HK$’000
FExT FEL
Deferred tax: EEMIE :
Current year KEE 1 589

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the AR AREBERE E2022F 2021F6 A

Group had no assessable profits arising from Hong Kong for the
two years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the UK are subject to Corporation
Tax in the UK (“Corporation Tax”). Corporation Tax is calculated
at 19% of the estimate assessable profit for the year ended 30
June 2022 (2021: 19%).

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. No provision for profits
tax is made in other jurisdictions as the subsidiaries operating
in other jurisdictions have no assessable profits for the years
ended 30 June 2022 and 2021.
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19%:t & (20214F : 19%) -
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R 2RI EGE - AR EMENE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED REMBHRERME 2
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B E20220F6 H30H 1FF/E
13. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued) 13. FiBBIER (&)
The reconciliation between the income tax credit and the loss sl e R p s 2 SERMT ¢

before taxation is as follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F&T
Loss before taxation B RIE B (107,768) (112,418)
Taxation calculated at respective EHEBEBRRER 2 ETMETEZ
domestic statutory tax rate TIE 25,417 22,457
Effect of income not taxable and BARBERAR TN HZ
expenses not deductible T 25,584 (9,172)
Tax effect of temporary differences AEREHEB oINS
not recognised 1 589
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 7 MR 18 518 ~ Bi fg o & (51,001) (13,285)
Income tax credit T8 fiik e 1 589
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

HREMBHRRMET )

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
14. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 14. ZFEFHR
Loss for the year is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the RFEEEBLENR (GFA) T3 &8
following items: BER
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration): EIRA(BEESEZHE)
— Salaries and wages (excluding —IEkEE (TREU
share-based payments expense) Bfn BEWRZARIH) 339,060 328,915
— Retirement benefits scheme contributions —RREFI G B 2 151 37,941 38,621
377,001 367,536
Share-based payments expense: AR BE Z R H
- Directors -E% - 1,002
- Employees —EE - 1,313
- 2,315
Total staff costs BTIRAAG 377,001 369,851
Auditors’ remuneration e il 1,392 1,394
Amortisation of intangible assets BREESE 65,322 76,854
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment mE - BELEETE 7,026 11,389
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 9,274 9,807
Expenses related to short-term lease REEERBRXS 5,125 4,127
Cost of inventories recognised as expense BRAERIZFEERAK 12,722 576
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets CREBREZRERE 1,075 10,049
Reversal of impairment loss on right-of-use assets & FAEEE 2 B EEIE 2 & (371) -
Impairment loss on goodwill HEZRERIE - 5,600
Impairment loss on trade receivables [EH B 5 RN 2R E B 1,324 41
Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables — E fth fE U i B R E B 18 2 # M (1) (1,676)
Impairment loss on intangible assets EREEZHERE - 812
Foreign exchange loss INE BB 16,979 31
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED GEMBHRRMET 2)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B E20220F6 H30H 1FF/E

15. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 15. EEB$
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the Directors, R IRE A LR B R B S R mHEGI AT #
disclosed pursuant the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong B OENIENTFESZHEOT -

Companies Ordinance, were as follows:

For the year ended 30 June 2022

22020567300 LEE
Salaries,
allowances Share-
and benefits Retirement based
in kind Discretionary scheme payments
Fees (Note (ii)) bonus  contribution expense
(Note (i) %€ 2¥R (Note (ii)) Bkt E URGAER Total
we ENEA RERA R ZHRxd @t
(Hii) (W) (Wi i)
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Name of director EEEE Mt &7 TET FEx FET FET FEx
Executive directors BiTESE
Mr. Zhao Wenging (Chairman) — #3UE % & (F8) - 2,048 - 96 - 2,144
Mr. Huang Dongfeng ERELE
(Chief Executive Officer) (fT##%) - 2,048 - - - 2,048
Mr. Yiu Chun Kong HEBLE - 276 - 13 - 289
Mr. Hsiao Charng Geng B i (i - 795 - - - 795
Dr. Guo Honglin PRAET - 1,114 - - - 1,114
- 6,281 - 109 - 6,390
Non-executive director ¥unEs
Mr. Sue Ka Lok BRE%k 255 - - - - 255
255 - - - - 255
Independent non-executive ~ BYEHTES
directors
Mr. Pun Chi Ping ERTRE 195 - - - - 195
Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine PEELL 195 - - - - 195
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat BEELE 195 - - - - 195
585 - - - - 585
Total ag 840 6,281 - 109 - 7,230
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
15. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Salaries,

allowances

and benefits

in kind

Fees (Note (i)

(Note (i) %% - 2ER

Name of director BEE4E ik ENEA
(W) (W)

HK$000 HK$000

REMBHREE @)

B 220226 H30H IFF/E
15. EEM < (&)
For the year ended 30 June 2021

BE021F6A30A LER

Share-

Retirement based

Discretionary scheme payments

bonus contribution expense
(Note (i) RIKiTE MEGAER Total
BBt 5 A E T a5

(W)

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000

AT FEr AT FET FET AT
Executive directors YHES
Mr. Zhao Wenging (Chairman) BXBEE(ZE) - 2,048 620 189 501 3,358
Mr. Huang Dongfeng ERERE
(Chief Executive Officer) (f7B%#) - 2,048 - - 501 2,549
Mr. Yiu Chun Kong KEBRE - 294 - 14 - 308
Mr. Hsiao Charng Geng BRERE - 940 - - - 940
Dr. Guo Honglin BHMET - 1,200 - - - 1,200
- 6,530 620 203 1,002 8,355
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Sue Ka Lok BREEE 273 - - - - 273
273 - - - - 273
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Pun Chi Ping BaTEE 208 - - - - 208
Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine REENT 208 - - - - 208
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat BEERE 208 - - - - 208
624 - - - - 624
Total ek 897 6,530 620 203 1,002 9,262
Notes: M iz

(i) Resigned on 30 June 2022.

(i) The directors’ emoluments are determined by the Board and
the Remuneration Committee of the Company with reference
to their duties and responsibilities with the Group, the Group’s
performance and the prevailing market situation.

(i)  Discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the annual
results of the Group and the employees’ performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
16. THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
The five highest paid individuals in the Group do not include any

directors and member of senior management of the Company
during the year and last year. The emoluments of the highest

R MRS AR M R ()

B 2202206 H30H 1FF/E

16. EEEETFMAL
RAFEREFEAN  AEEREHRS
FWATHETBREEAARRESERS
REBERE - ZS5&aa AT 2B

paid individual are set out as below: M :
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Basic salaries and allowances ERF & KERL 69,023 59,632
Discretionary bonus BB TEAT 5,131 5,506
Retirement benefit scheme contribution RORAE FET B R 10,354 9,633
84,508 74,771

The emoluments of the 5 highest paid individuals during the
year (2021: 5) fall within the following band:

RAREERNEL (2021F : AR &E
FMAL 2SN FATEE :

Number of individuals

AE

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$12,500,001 — HK$13,000,000 12,500,0017% 7t —13,000,0007% 7T - 1
HK$13,000,001 — HK$13,500,000 13,000,001 7t — 13,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$14,000,001 - HK$14,500,000 14,000,001 7t — 14,500,000/ 7T 2
HK$14,500,001 — HK$15,000,000 14,500,001 7T — 15,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$16,000,001 — HK$16,500,000 16,000,001 7t — 16,500,0007% 7T 1 -
HK$16,500,001 — HK$17,000,000 16,500,001 7t — 17,000,000/ 7T 2 -
HK$19,500,001 — HK$20,000,000 19,500,001 7T — 20,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$20,000,001 — HK$20,500,000 20,000,001 7t —20,500,0007% 7T - 1

During the year ended 30 June 2022, no emoluments were paid
or payable to the five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join the Group or as a compensation for loss of office (2021:
nil).

17. DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for the years ended 30 June
2022 and 2021, nor has any dividend been proposed since the
end of the reporting periods.

RE 202296 A30H It FER - I £
BEX B2 e T HERe 5
AT EBREMARERSRIEAE KX
KA 2 858 (20214 « &) o

17. BRE

H £20224F N2021F6A308 IFF &
W RS BRAR S - T EREBERE
1% 4 R (] B B, o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

18. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY
Basic loss per share
Loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss for the year

attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

FmEMBHRRMET )

B E 20226 H30H I FIE

18.

FRAFEEAREERER

BREXER
BREBREARTERAREAFES
BIRAREE B BT 5B INEF IR

| s
=T B o

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Loss: B8
Loss attributable to owners of the Company for stEGRENEE 2
the purpose of calculating basic loss per share AR TG AE(EEE (40,661) (74,232)
2022 2021
20224 20214

Number of shares: BROE®E

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for & A A THEHE A FEG
calculating basic loss per share attributable to G A EE 2

owners of the Company I N AE 19 &

19,288,998,508 18,448,946,168

Diluted loss per share

For the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021, the computation
of diluted loss per share does not assume the exercise of share
options as they would decrease the loss per share attributable
to owners of the Company and have anti-dilutive effect.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED GEMBHRRMET 2)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B E20220F6 H30H 1FF/E
19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. ¥ BERRE
Furniture,

fixtures and

office

Land and Leasehold equipment Motor
buildings improvements G £ER vehicles Total
T REF HENEEE N ] RE okl
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET

COSTS B
At 1 July 2020 7202057 A1H 230,226 9,129 24,700 3,389 267,444
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBATF (219,733) (350) (352) - (220,435)
Disposal HE - - - (1,567) (1,567)
Additions NE - - 1,709 1,962 3,671
Written off M - - (22) - (22)
Exchange realignment S 34,125 35 2,409 231 36,800
At 30 June 2021 and 72021564308 &

1 July 2021 2021F7R1H 44,618 8,814 28,444 4,015 85,891
Additions RE 8,848 - 3,794 162 12,804
Exchange realignment ERhCE (5,849) - (2,920) (248) (9,017)
At 30 June 2022 R2022%6A30H 47,617 8,814 29,318 3,929 89,678

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZitHrERRE

AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 July 2020 #2020%7A1H 70,317 9,129 14,627 2,406 96,379
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAT (65,529) (350) (99) - (65,978)
Disposal HE - - - (809) (809)
Charge for the year AFEEXH 5,352 - 5,287 750 11,389
Written off A - - (12) - (12)
Exchange realignment ELAZE 10,561 35 1,589 221 12,406
At 30 June 2021 and 7202164308 &

1 July 2021 2021F7R1H 20,701 8,814 21,292 2,568 53,375
Charge for the year AEETH 1,627 - 4,677 722 7,026
Exchange realignment ERRAE (2,505) - (2,322) (237) (5,064)
At 30 June 2022 R2022%6A30H 19,823 8,814 23,647 3,053 55,337

CARRYING VALUE RHE
At 30 June 2022 R2022%6A30H 27,794 - 5,671 876 34,341
At 30 June 2021 20216 A30H 23,917 - 7,152 1,447 32,516
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED e EHRRMEE 2)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B 202296 /30H IFFE
20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20. EAEEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 30 June: MK6H30A8 :
Right-of-use assets FREEE
- Land i} 6,988 7,996
~ Buildings -EF 62,519 78,514
- Equipment - R 755 433
70,262 86,943
The maturity analysis, based on AEEHEAEER
undiscounted cash flows, of the REMBELREZ
Group’s lease liabilities is as follows: FEBERAFAT ¢
- Less than one year - —FR 18,326 21,322
- Between one and two years -—FEWMF 13,923 19,280
- Between two and five years -MEFEERF 39,896 44,621
— After five years - HF1& 121,774 149,837
193,919 235,060
Year ended 30 June: EHZE6H30H HFE :
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEECITEERR
- Land - 1 102 102
_ Buildings - g5 7,775 7,400
- Equipment - &fE 1,397 2,305
9,274 9,807
Lease interests HEFE 10,819 3,570
Expenses related to short-term leases EHHEEERAX 5,125 4,127
Gain on early termination of lease A EAENRE 37 3
Total cash outflow for leases HEZHES R EE 14,584 14,895
Additions to right-of-use assets FREEERNE 1,392 79,174
Reversal of impairment loss on FREEERBRBEZ#D
right-of-use assets 371 -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets EREEE 2 REBEERE 1,075 10,049
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

R MRS AR M R ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B E20220F6 H30H 1FF/E
21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21. B EE
Player’s
Registration Trademark Software Membership Total
R E M Bme B# ] k]
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FET FET FET
COSTS B
At 1 July 2020 #2020%7A31H 258,299 439,606 18,924 - 716,829
Addition NE 63,500 - - - 63,500
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—RMBLRQR - - - 348 348
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKB AR - - (21,047) - (21,047)
Disposal HE (21,028) - - - (21,028)
Exchange realignment & 5 % 33,929 55,627 2,128 (18) 91,661
At 30 June 2021 and 17202146 A30H
1 July 2021 R202147A1B 334,700 495,233 - 330 830,263
Addition NE 9,713 - - - 9,713
Disposal & (16,356) - - - (16,356)
Exchange realignment R IEE (37,737) (56,664) - (60) (94,461)
At 30 June 2022 2022565 30AH 290,320 438,569 - 270 729,159
ACCUMULATED Rt BERAE
AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2020 R2020F7A1H 123,931 426,886 1,577 - 552,394
Amortisation for the year RNEFZBH 74,975 - 1,851 28 76,854
Disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR - - (3,683) - (3,683)
Impairment losses FEEE - 812 - - 812
Disposal & (9,008) - - - (9,008)
Exchange realignment IE 5 A% 17,613 54,044 255 1) 71,911
At 30 June 2021 and 20216 A30H
1 July 2021 %2021%7H1H 207,511 481,742 - 27 689,280
Amortisation for the year NEFZBH 65,296 - - 26 65,322
Disposal HE (15,308) - - - (15,303)
Exchange realignment ME AR (27,947) (55,120) - (9) (83,076)
At 30 June 2022 202256 H830A 229,557 426,622 - 44 656,223
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 30 June 2022 202256 830A 60,763 11,947 - 226 72,936
At 30 June 2021 720216 A30H 127,189 13,491 - 303 140,983
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

21.

Notes:

(i)

(i

(i)

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss as follows:
Players’ registration = Based on respective players’ contracts
terms from 1-5 years

Membership 12 years

Trademark Not amortised

The players’ registration is considered to have a useful life
ranging from 1 to 5 years and is tested for impairment at the
end of the reporting period.

Any players whom BCFC, a subsidiary of the Company, do not
consider to be a long-term part of the first team squad and
who will therefore not contribute to future cash flows earned
by BCFC are assessed for impairment by considering the
carrying value with BCFC’s best estimate of fair value (being
post year-end sales proceeds or expected sales proceeds)
less costs of disposal. No impairment was made for the year
ended 30 June 2022 (2021: nil).

The trademark was acquired in the business combination
of Birmingham City PLC, which is considered to have an
indefinite useful life and was tested for impairment as at the
end of the reporting period.

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount
of the trademark for the year ended 30 June 2022. The
recoverable amount has been determined based on its fair
value less costs of disposal, with reference to the valuation
prepared by an independent professional valuer, JP Assets
Consultancy Limited. The fair value less costs of disposal of
the trademark falls within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The
valuation technique used to measure the fair value less costs
of disposal is the relief-from-royalty method, which determines
the present worth of future after-tax royalties derived from
ownership. Indication of value is developed by discounting
future after-tax royalties attributable to the trademark to their
present worth at market-derived rate of return appropriate
for the risks of the trademark. The valuer adopted a pre-tax
discount rate of 24.78%.

No impairment loss on trademark was recognised for the year
ended 30 June 2022 (2021: approximately HK$812,000).
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BB BRI REKEmMA Y
BCFCBELZ R RIR &M E LR AR
ZERE e HITHESE AR
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AREE EELRE (20214 ) o
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BEMHRRE WEABEERAE
FIEH7 - 30 R R 4 B R 1T R E R

REBEDEHEIZEH E202296F
308 IEFE 2l El &% - aJ Uk
CHEN2EBELREGEMBETE
EEBERARGEZGHE  KE
AREERELENEAETE  -HEAF
EREERTNBRAFERBRE=
- AREAFERLEEXAZ
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AN EBRERIEEZAK
BRERBTEFEHAENERER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

R MRS AR M R ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B E20220F6 H30H 1FF/E
22. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 22, BEYHE
HK$'000
FET
FAIR VALUE ATE
At 1 July 2020 R2020%7A1H 530,634
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss REZBER2AFEEZS (48,672)
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 MR2021%F6 A30H Kk2021F7A1H 481,962
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss RIBRERZ AT EEE (4,368)
At 30 June 2022 MR2022%F6 A30H 477,594

The carrying amount of the Group’s investment properties as
at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021 were stated based on the
valuation conducted by JP Assets Consultancy Limited, an
independent qualified professional valuer, on market value using
the existing use basis. The loss arising from changes in fair
value of investment properties of approximately HK$4,368,000
was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 30 June
2022 (2021: approximately HK$48,672,000).

As at 30 June 2022, investment properties of the Group
with fair values of approximately HK$477,594,000 (2021:
approximately HK$481,962,000).

The Group leases out its investment properties under operating
leases. The average lease term is three years. All leases are on
a fixed rental basis and do not include variable lease payments.

AEERE Y ER202266 A308 &
20216 A30H < BRHEE /I iR 8 8 L
AERBEHEMEIEEEMAR
NREMEFEREE AR ELEEITRH
BEmETE - &8 F2022946A308 I £
B BREMENTEESHEEZEIE
494,368,000/ 7T 2 7 18 25 7 52 (2021
F : 4948,672,00087T) °

R2022%46A30H * NEBERE W%
2N FEH A4TT,594,0000% 7T (2021
£ 1 #9481,962,000/8 7T) ©

FEBERBLLEHEHBERREYE -
FHHEOMR=F PEHESETEMR
T Y IBRIAEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
23. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

HREMBHRRMET )

B E 20226 H30H I FIE
23. FEMBAT

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 KRN A R20224F K%2021F6 A30H &

June 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

TEMBRAFBNOT :

Percentage of equity

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued and attributable to the
Name of company registration and operation paid-up capital Company Principal activities
AGEL HMAL/ BRREERE BRORBRERHE ARAEGREAAIL TEEH
2022 2021
2020F 2001
Directly hold
EERE
Birmingham City PLC the UK (GBP8,150,000 ordinary 75% 75%  Investment holding
LG 8,150,000% & £ &R REER
Birmingham Finance Holdings Limited Samoa US$1 ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
BRBERERERAT BED 1ETERR RERR
Birmingham Global Investments British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
Holdings Limited HERLHE 1ETERBR BELR
Cosy Lane Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
ZHRERAT EBRRES 1ETEBER RERR
Topgame Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
EBERES 1ETEBR REER
Indirectly hold
BiEkE
Collar Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$100 ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
FHMRERAA BE 1008 T LAk RERR
(formerly known as: Banana Entertainment
Limited)
([ BERRERLR)
Bl Management Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100% 100% Provision of
BEBERBRLA BA BrLaR management services
REERRHS
Birmingham City Football Club PLC the UK (GBP58,830,838 ordinary 75% 75% Football club
LG 58,830,838 & iR RIE
Birmingham City Women Football the UK GBP1 ordinary 75% 75%  Football club
Club Limited HE 1RELAR BHe
Birmingham Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$100 ordinary 100% 100% Money lending
(BRBIBERAA Bk 1008 T BB &
Birmingham Investments (China) Limited Hong Kong HK$100 ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
REABRE (T E) BRAT & 1008 T ERR REER
Celestial Fame Investment (Cambodia) Cambodia US$1,000,000 ordinary 100% 100% Properties investment
Co., Ltd. REE 1,000,000 L& @K nERE
Deep Blue Trade (Cambodia) Co., Ltd. Cambodia US$1,000,000 ordinary 100% 100% Properties investment
RER 1,000,000% 70 & & B NERE
Celestial Fame Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary 100% 100% Properties investment
EBRAES 1ETEBER NERE
Medi Hub Co., Ltd.” Japan JPY35,000,000 ordinary 100% 100% Healthcare Business
=R 35,000,0000 Bl &R REEH
Mirai Iryo Sango Co., Ltd.* Japan JPY5,000,000 ordinary 100% 100% Healthcare Business
AR 5,000,0008 [ % & 3

*

only.

The English translation of the company name is for reference
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

R MRS AR M R ()

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B E20220F6 H30H 1FF/E
23. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 23. X EKMBAR(E)

The following table shows information of the subsidiaries that
have non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The
summarised financial information represents amounts before

inter-company eliminations.

TREJNGEAHAREBEAZ FFER
e ([FERERD) 2HBARZE
£ o BB AN R RR A B R HR 2
T8 e

Birmingham City PLC

2022 2021
20224 20214
Principal place of business and FE2EMB RAMATEK the UK the UK
country of registration HE =
% of ownership interests and voting  JEIERREZS E(L A R
rights held by NCI R EEzZAD T 25% 25%
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
At 30 June M6H30H
Non-current assets FERBEE 182,318 310,317
Current assets MENE E 145,908 238,288
Current liabilities REBAE (1,291,137) (1,290,000)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (97,877) (180,553)
Net liabilities BEFE (1,060,788) (921,948)
Accumulated NCI 2T TR ER (265,197) (230,487)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Year ended 30 June B Z6H30HILLEE
Revenue W &= 190,891 137,869
Loss for the year AEFEEERE (268,424) (63,230)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AR E 2 HE B4 58 (138,840) (58,897)
Loss allocated to NCI DEEFERER BB (67,106) (38,931)
Net cash used in operating activities K& FBFTAE 2R & %58 (237,447) (185,159)
Net cash generated from investing REFHELEZRES FH
activities 106,833 141,154
Net cash generated from financing MEETHELA RS FE
activities 131,290 39,596
Net increase (decrease) in cash and R & MIRESEEB N ORD)
cash equivalents F R 676 (4,409)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

24.

25.

FmEMBHRRMET )

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
INVENTORIES 24, FE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Finished goods and goods for sale Rk m & IEE M 54 378
TRADE RECEIVABLES 25. EUWE S HRK
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
e FET F&ET
Trade receivables FEUE FEER 10,043 16,579
Less: impairment loss recognised W BREREREE (i) (2,963) (2,775)
7,080 13,804
Notes: Bt -

(i) In general, the Group grants a credit period of about 14 days
to 90 days to its customers. The ageing analysis of trade

() ARERTFTEPHNEEH-—RA/LY
148 £90H - B E 5 R 3K (F0 5

receivables (net of provision for impairment) based on the B ERE) ZEE R NIRRT
invoice date is as follows: N

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Within 30 days 30HA 4,657 6,237

31 days to 90 days 31HZE90H 778 5,176

91 days to 180 days 91HE=180H 807 2,160

181 days to 365 days 181H=365H 838 231

7,080 13,804

(i) The movements in the impairment on trade receivables during

the year are as follows:

(i) FAEKESERZHEZSHHT

2022 2021

202245 20214

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

At 1 July R7A1H 2,775 2,880
Written off during the year FNEHE (772) (497)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised  [B118 2 #3203 (E &5 18 - (61)
Impairment loss recognised EERREEE 1,324 102
Exchange realignment [z Ik (364) 351
At 30 June M6 A30R 2,963 2,775
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED GEMBHRRMET 2)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B E20220F6 H30H 1FF/E
25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 25. BWEZERR (&)

Notes: (Continued) HiaE - (&)

(i)  The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to (i) AEBERABBMEHRELENFEISR
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected BTNZEEF AR BHREEFEE
loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the LG B EREKE SEREREA
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped THITEHEERE - R EBEE
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past EER EBRESEREDRERXRA
due. The expected credit losses also incorporate forward EERRFEBRABEHE S E -
looking information. HEEEETEEREEER -

Less than Over
90 days 90 days
Current past due past due Total
B g
BN EA 4 A90H ##BiB90R st
At 30 June 2022 7202266 530H
Weighted average expected T8 BAES 18 3 hnE
loss rate Fi5E 0.0% 0.0% 78.0%
Receivables amount (HK$'000) W& %8 (F&T) 5,435 807 3,801 10,043
Loss allowance (HK$'000) EERE(FET) - - 2,963 2,963
At 30 June 2021 R2021F6 A30H
Weighted average expected 8 B 548 2 N
loss rate (A 0.0% 0.0% 92.3%
Receivables amount (HK$'000)  fEWR & %8 (F/%T) 11,413 2,160 3,006 16,579
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BB E (FET) - - 2,775 2,775
26. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26. B& BAREREMEKRTE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Hist FET FET

Other receivables Hth e WK I8 16,891 27,734

Transfer fee receivables ElREgE (i) 61,206 175,669

Amount due from a former subsidiary AL ENGIPA ¢ (ii) 46,583 63,304

Deposits and prepayments Ee RENRIE 10,765 8,714

Less: impairment loss recognised W BRRREEE (i) = 1)

135,445 275,420

Less: transfer fee receivables — non-current i : JEINEE@ & —JERH) (i) (6,804) (58,750)

Amounts shown as current assets FIVERBNEE 2 £% 128,641 221,670
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

FmEMBHRRMET )

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E

26. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26. B& BEAREREMEKRTE
(Continued) (%)
Notes: Hrat -
() Included in other receivables are amounts of approximately () 72022F6H30H + Hith E U 5K IB

HK$6,804,000 as at 30 June 2022 relating to transfer
fee of players which are classified as non-current (2021:
approximately HK$53,750,000). In addition, the Group’s
transfer fee receivables from other football clubs with a
carrying amount of approximately HK$47,600,000 (equivalent
to GBP5,000,000) as at 30 June 2022 (2021: approximately
HK$161,250,000 (equivalent to GBP15,000,000)) were
pledged to secure bank borrowings of the Group.

B 546,804,000/ 7T W MK E
SEWYHBERIERD (2021F : 47
53,750,000/ JT) ° It oh » AN &
202266 A308 2 fE W E fb @ Bk
Ne#Ees v RHEEX47,600,000
7 7T (FA 5 745,000,000 ) (2021
£ 1 #161,250,0007 T (A FH R
15,000,000 #%)) B 1E B A&
ERITERZER -

(i)  Amount due from a former subsidiary, Birmingham City (i)  JEUg B Bf B A BIBirmingham City

(il)

Stadium Ltd, is unsecured, interest bearing and repayable on
demand.

The movements in the impairment loss on other receivables

Stadium Ltdz I8 & &R - 5H8

B EFEE -

(i) FREAMEKRFIAEZBREBREZ

during the year are as follows: W
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$’000
FAET F&ET
At 1 July R7HA1H 1 1,532
Impairment loss recognised CHER R E R 1B = 1
Reversal of impairment loss recognised [0 B ERREEE (1) (1,677)
Exchange realignment B i, B = 145
At 30 June #H6A30H - 1

27. TRANSFER FEE PAYABLES 27. ENBEHE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET

Transfer fee payables: ENEeE

— Within one year ——FRN 15,919 17,266
- Due after one year ——F 1% 55 = 19,888
15,919 37,154

ARNEEBRENFERE Z#H
A5 B o

All transfer fee payables are stated at amortised cost that
approximately equal to their fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

28. TRADE PAYABLES

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date

is as follows:

R MRS AR M R ()

B 220226 A30H IF FE
28. EHESERN

ENESRFIZERARED 2 REKD

MR -

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Within 30 days 30HA 6,756 3,188
31 days to 90 days 31HZ90H 7,291 3,966
91 days to 180 days 91HZ2180H 2,636 1,212
181 days to 365 days 181H £365H 1,045 1,738
Over 365 days HiB365H 1,255 -
18,983 10,104

The credit periods of the Group’s trade payables normally
granted from suppliers averaging at 90 days (2021: 90 days).

29. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

REBZRENE SER —RERERS
FFH0H ZZEH) (20214 : 90RH) °

29. FESHRERH M ENKIE

2022 2021

20224 20214

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

k=3 F#ET FET

Accruals JET B (i) 54,303 64,312
Agent’s fee payables &L ANER (ii) 9,017 11,143
63,320 75,455

Notes:
(i) Included in accruals are amounts of approximately
HK$3,311,000 (2021: approximately HK$2,514,000) relating to

accrued directors’ remuneration.

(i) Agent’s fee and selling fee payable for the acquisition of
football players according to the transfer agreement of players.

(i) Accruals and other payables are all non-interest bearing.

Wit

() EAREREEBETESNSZ
FIE#93,311,000% 7T (20214F : 4
2,514,000 7T) °

(i) REREzEBgHE HUBKRE
ENELEANERRHEER -

(i) FERTFUE R EAD RN RIES TR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
30. AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO A RELATED PARTY

31.

FmEMBHRRMET )

B 22022F6 H30H IFFE
30. FEW FENBEESKE

2022 2021

20224 20214

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

iz FET FET

Amount due from a related party & U B & 7 208 0] 184,384 -

Amount due to a related party FETREE A FRIE (i) 246,995 213,359
Notes: Hie -

(i)

(i)

Amount due from a related party of approximately
HK$184,384,000 (2021: nil) represented the compensation
income from football club segment in the UK receivable
from Oriental Rainbow under the profit and loss sharing
arrangement between the Company and Oriental Rainbow
pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement dated 9 October
2020. Details of the shareholders’ agreement, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 9 October 2020 and
the circular of the Company dated 17 November 2020. The
balances are denominated in Pounds Sterling, interest-free,
unsecured and repayable on demand. The maximum amount
outstanding during the year is approximately HK$184,384,000.

The carrying amount of approximately HK$246,995,000 as at
30 June 2022 represented amount due to Oriental Rainbow.
The balances are denominated in Pounds Sterling and are
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed repayment term.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Disclosures of revenue-related items:

()  FEURERIETT 3RIEAI184,384,000/%8 7T
(20214 : £8) 5 1R #& H BR B2020%F
10A9B R IBBEARAIERE 2
MZBRE2 BT TERZ BBk
CHHERRES 2 mERZ - HH4
BEBZEZFE F28AQFH
1 A2020F10A9H 2 A & R AR
A HHI 52020911 A17H 238K ©
EHRBELHRENE BERE &
ERRAREREEE -ER K
838 & =5 F T8 49 A184,384,000/%

o

|l

(i) M2022%6830H  EEEY
246,995,000/ T A EN RE 2K
B SHEGBURENE BEKXR
BB B EBRTENRD-

31. BHER
W IERIIE B 5 ¢

At At At
30 June 30 June 1 July
2022 2021 2020
R20224 720214 20204
6H30H 6H30H 7H1H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET
Contract liabilities — football club BRHBE-BIRREEDR
business 14,579 35,326 6,671
Revenue recognised in the year that REYEFAEHNEE Y
was included in contract liabilities at ~ EE 2R 2 Wi
beginning of the year 34,156 172 24,244
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED GEMBHRRMET 2)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B E20220F6 H30H 1FF/E

31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 31. EHEE(E)
Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations AEEFRHATHNBELHEEIL AR
unsatisfied at the end of the year and expected to be RTINFEERBBZNARZHER :

recognised as revenue in:

2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Year ended 30 June 2022 HZE2022F6A30R L FE - 35,326
Year ended 30 June 2023 B £2023F6H30H IEFE 14,579 -
14,579 35,326

Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year: TEEEHNEBBEZERES)
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
At 1 July M7A1E 35,326 6,671
Increase due to operations in the year FERNEFME N 15,918 27,191
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue ERAEHNEERERE (34,156) (172)
Exchange realignment PE i 38 & (2,509) 1,636
At 30 June R6HA30H 14,579 35,326
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer BHEERASEBERNEFEEASED
products or services to a customer for which the Group has ERFWRENRE (HERRESRE) 2

received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) EmiRBzEF -

from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

FmEMBHRRMET )

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
32. BORROWINGS 32. EX
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Bank borrowings, secured IRITER - BER 44,489 154,229
Other borrowings, unsecured: HMBER - EER
— Loan from Football League — R BFootball LeagueZ & 54,595 80,460
- Loan from substantial shareholders —RE T BRE ZER 233,049 49,200
— Loan from third parties —KBE=ZAZER 16,840 9,672
- Other loan —H A B ®K 176 199
349,149 293,760

At 30 June 2022 and 2021, total borrowings were repayable as

follows:

REZRIR A T FHIMER -

R20224F N2021F6 A30H - ER 4

2022
20224
Bank Other
borrowings borrowings Total
RITER Hih B R # 5t
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
Carrying amounts repayable:* JEEEZEREE: *
— On demand or within one year —EEBRF—FA 44,489 30,265 74,754
- Between one and two years ——FEWRFE - 212,850 212,850
— Between two and five years —-WEERF - 61,038 61,038
— Over five years —RFLE - 507 507
44,489 304,660 349,149
Less: Amounts due within one year BOREBEEMINN—FR
shown as current liabilities I EA ~ 308 (44,489) (30,265) (74,754)
Amounts shown as non-current JIESERBI B EZ &R
liabilities - 274,395 274,395
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED GEMBHRRMET 2)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B E20220F6 H30H 1FF/E
32. BORROWINGS (Continued) 32. B (£&)
2021
20214
Bank Other
borrowings  borrowings Total
RITER HEiE K et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET
Carrying amounts repayable:* JEEZEZEAEE: "

- On demand or within one year —EERE—FA 103,992 80,443 184,435
— Between one and two years —— FEWE 50,237 29,943 80,180
— Between two and five years —-MEERF - 28,946 28,946
— Over five years —RFLE - 199 199
154,229 139,531 293,760

Less: Amounts due within one year Booms e EmYR
shown as current liabilities —FRNEEHZHIE  (103,992) (80,443) (184,435)
Amounts shown as non-current liabilites  ZI{EIE R BB E Y S5 50,237 59,088 109,325
*  The amounts due are based on scheduled repayable dates set * RFIHzeBmEERBETET

out in loan agreements. ZIETEERBEE -

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Carrying amounts are denominated IREENLTIEE:
in the following currencies:

Hong Kong dollars BT 233,049 49,200
Pounds Sterling gE 101,449 234,888
Renminbi AR 13,734 8,407
Japanese Yen =RE] 917 1,265

349,149 293,760
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED mEMBHRRMEEE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
32. BORROWINGS (Continued) 32. BER(£E)
2022 2021
20224 20214
Effective interest rates per annum: BRFRZE:
Hong Kong dollars BT 4.50% 4.50%
Pounds Sterling B gE 0.00% - 6.00% 0.00% - 5.56%
Renminbi AR 5.00% 5.00%
Japanese Yen H 0.46% 0.46%
As at 30 June 2022, the total carrying amount of the borrowings M2022%F6A30H  AEBEEH 2 IR
of the Group was approximately HK$349,149,000 (2021: T 48 %8 49 /5349,149,0007% 7t (2021
approximately HK$293,760,000). As at 30 June 2022, the F : 49293,760,0008 L) ° 202246
Group had undrawn borrowing facilities of approximately A30H  AEEABAFHAKRRRER
HK$426,613,000 available to it (2021: approximately Bl & £7426,613,000/% 7T (20214 : 49
HK$504,403,000). 504,403,000/ 7T) °
33. LEASE LIABILITIES 33. HE&EE
Present value of
Minimum lease minimum lease
payments payments
BiEHAS BREHEESRE
2022 2021 2022 2021

2022%F 20214 2022%F 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000
FET T/ET FET T/ET

Within one year —F RN 18,326 21,322 9,361 11,686
After one year but within five years —F&EBRAF R 53,819 63,901 24,688 28,815
After five years hFE% 121,774 149,837 49,717 63,711

193,919 235,060 83,766 104,212

N/A N/A
Less: Future finance charges W RRMEERA (110,153)  (130,848) T8 A 5 A
Present value of lease liabilities HEBEMRE 83,766 104,212 83,766 104,212
Less: Amount due for settlement 3 : 1218 A ) 2| &
within 12 months (shown BENSE
under current liabilities) FlRREHBE) (9,361)  (11,686)
Amount due for settlement after 12 R 2 &2 HFE
12 month 04 %8 74,405 92,526
At 30 June 2022, the effective borrowing rates are ranging from R2022F6A30H ' EEERF XN
4.5% to 11.89% (2021: 4.5%-11.89%). Interest rates are fixed F4.5%%E11.89% (2021F : 4.5% =
at the contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value 11.89%) - MERELNBHETE - Bit
interest rate risk. SAREEEZ QN FEMERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
34. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
during the year are as follows:

R MRS AR M R ()

2 F 202246 A30H IFF/E

34. EEBEEME

RiFE W BHRARER ZEERBARE
ZHAKRBDERFERAZEBNT

Revaluation  Revaluation  Revaluation
of Investment of land and  of intangible
properties building assets
By BEffti Eff Total
RENE RETF BREE “m
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 July 2020 R2020%7A18 154 13,885 6,753 20,792
Exchange realignment [ 5 - 2,106 336 2,442
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries RUEENBRRBES - - 16 16
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - (15,743) (4,341) (20,084)
Credited to consolidated statement of profit 5t AfrA Bz R E A
or loss and other comprehensive income FEBER (154) (248) (187) (589)
At 30 June 2021 7202146830 - - 2,577 2,577
Exchange realignment BN AR - - (296) (296)
Credited to consolidated statement of profit st A&ZAEBHREM
or loss and other comprehensive income 2EBER - - 1) 1)
At 30 June 2022 202256 A30H - - 2,280 2,280

At 30 June 2022, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$1,251,966,000 (2021: approximately
HK$807,787,000) available for off-set against future profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such tax
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Such
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

202246 A30H * "B B K& A
5 18 55 18 491,251,966,0007% 7T (2021
£ 1 49807,787,0007 7T) A A 1EE 5K
FOF T o B R A TR B B DATER) - iR
BEREETEBERERECHEER
E-BHAEENERIPLEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

HREMBHRRMET )

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
35. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 35. BRARHE
Number of
shares Amount
RGEE KX |
Note HK$'000
g3 FAET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SHREBOIETLIEER
Authorised: EE
At 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2022 #2021F6A308 202266 A30H 50,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRARE:
At 1 July 2020 R2020%7A1H 17,710,022,508 177,100
Issue of shares upon share placing B RESBITRG (i) 516,400,000 5,164
Issue of shares upon share subscriptions ROBERETRR (i) 1,062,576,000 10,626
At 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2022 7202156 A30H % 202268300 19,288,998,508 192,890
Note: B

(0

(a)

Details of movement in the issued share capital of the
Company were disclosed in the Company’s 2021 annual
report dated 30 September 2021.

The Group

(i)

(if)

(iii

(iv)

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Share premium - the application of the share
premium account is governed by applicable
regulations of the Cayman Islands.

Capital reserve — capital reserve represents the waiver
of amounts due to a shareholder.

Translation reserve — translation reserve is arising
from the translation of foreign currencies in overseas
subsidiaries from the functional currency to the
Group’s presentation currency.
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(i)

(a)

BEARBEBITRAZH Z2F1F
B R AR A B H A2021F9H30H
Z2021F FRPHFE -

REE

(i)

(i

(iii

(iv)

AEBRBEZBEREHR
meaBakEME2ERaR
NRERAEEHEKRET -

B An 3 1B — B 0 i (B AR 2 &
AXHASHESERRPIEE -

BAXAREB-BEAREBERR
e — 2 IR R RIA -

V34, o 5 — O 34, Gt S E 2 1
588 SN B A .2 M (B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
35. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
(@) The Group (Continued)

(v) Share options reserve — the share options reserve
represents the fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options granted to
directors and employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
equity-settled share-based payments in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

HREMBHRRMET )

B 220226 A30H IF FE
35. BARGEE(E)
(a) &M (&)

(v) BREGE-BERERER
BRYEAEBEEEREBZR
TEBRETER S ETEE
ZRAFE REGAEMBER
KU EAARIELEE RN B
AT MHRMAN S TR #E
THER -

() Contributed surplus — the contributed surplus represents
the excess of the fair value of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the group reorganisation over the nominal
value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange
therefor. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the contributed surplus account is distributable
to the shareholders of the Company under certain
circumstances.

(i)  Capital reserve — capital reserve represents the waiver of
amounts due to a shareholder.

(i)  Share options reserve — the share options reserve
represents the fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options granted to
directors and employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
equity-settled share-based payments in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(b) The Company (b) F2AH
Share
Contributed Share Capital options  Accumulated
surplus premium reserve reserve losses Total
N RHEE BRfiE  BRERE B g
HK8'000 HK$'000 HK8'000 HK$'000 HK8'000 HK$'000
AT AT A1 AT AT 4
At 1 July 2020 202087 A1R 22,201 1,563,733 6,510 7,159 (1,458,694) 140,909
Recognition of equity-settled BANREEEN

share-based payments expense Tt BER 2 (3% - - - 2,315 - 2,315
Issue of shares upon share placing i ERETRn - 64,550 - - - 64,550
Transaction costs attrioutable to share placing RAEEZR SR - (1,230) - - - (1,230)
Issue of shares upon share subscriptions RiREREARG - 156,198 - - - 156,198
Transaction costs attributable to shares subscriptions 228 2 X BAiA - (11) - - - (151)
Total comprehensive expense for the year RERRERTAE - - - - (153,045) (153,045)
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 HONEGANERANETAIE 2201 1,783,100 6,510 0474 (1611739 209,546
Share options lapsed BRMERE - - - (1,441) 1441 -
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEERERNEE - - - - (46,791) (46,791)
At 30 June 2022 2022565308 22,201 1,783,100 6,510 8,033 (1,657,089) 162,755

Notes: Htat -

() BABB-BARKREREEESE
AEPTUEFT B A R AP EBEA DA
RRBZ LM BN R) BT 2 B
HEMEZZH BERASHESR
BE  RRBAESE THER T A
ABERIRAZ BRI REH DR ©

(i) BEAFE-ELFBERR2EN—
FRRRIE -

(i) BREFRGE-BREERBSETA
SEEEREEZRITEBRER
B8 A 22 FE REES
BATE SRR M S A DA R AR B AR D
ERE SR G T BRAETTHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

HREMBHRRMET )

B E 20226 H30H I FIE
36. HERESTE

The existing share option scheme of the Company (the “Share
Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 30 December 2016.

On 6 December 2018, the Company granted share options to
eligible persons to subscribe for a total of 300,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company under the Share Option Scheme. The
exercise price of the share options granted was HK$0.1084
per share and the share options granted were exercisable in
three tranches. The first tranche amounted to one third of the
share options granted can be exercised beginning on the date
of grant and exercisable within a period of five years thereafter.
The second tranche amounted to one third of the share options
granted shall be vested on the first anniversary of the date
of grant and exercisable within the period of four years after
being vested. The remaining tranche amounted to one third
of the share options granted shall be vested on the second
anniversary of the date of grant and exercisable within the
period of three years after being vested.

On 283 April 2019, the Company completed the rights issue in
which 5,908,340,836 new shares on the basis of one rights
share for every two shares were allotted and issued at the
subscription price of HK$0.05 per rights share. The number
of share of the Company that can be issued upon exercise of
the outstanding share options and the exercise price of the
outstanding share options were adjusted in accordance with
the Share Option Scheme and the supplementary guidance
regarding adjustment of share options under Rule 17.03(13) of
the Listing Rules. The exercise price per share was adjusted to
HK$0.09736.
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ARAFR20165FE12 308 BT 2 AR
ARRBAFRE EHRARNRRZEEE
PR8I ([REARRERTSI)) -

M2018F 12868 » AR 7 18 & I i
BETEINEERATRDBRE 7
H 28 4 $£300,000,0000% & 2 7] & i#
i - I ERECITHEERERRMG
0.108478 7T + FT# BB AR = [E#t Ik
1 - AP EHESERE R L ERE=
D2 —HBREGRIR L BB 1T
FRAREERFANAIITE - HRE
HEREREBRE=S 2 —HERE
BRELANEAFREEBREBEN
FRAIITE - R THUAHSERERHEE
RiE=5 2 —HBREKRIZLE BEm
RFEZBREBRE-FAMITE-

R2019%4 A230 » AR A B 5K #
BB ARFEERRBES R
B AZ 190.0578 TR T3 B MR IR 7]
B — IR HERR AR (D 2 B R T KRBT
5,903,340,8360% ¥7 BZ 19 o 7 M R 1T1E
BREEITFER A TRITZARBIRMD
HE RHARITEEREZTEEDRIE
ARSI R EHRBIE17.03(13) KA
BARERE 2 B ESEL A% -
f&ITEE S FHEE E0.0973678 7T ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED REMBHRERME 2
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022 B E20220F6 H30H 1FF/E
36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 36. BIRESHE(E)
Details of movements in the number of share options during the H E2022F6 A30H LLFE - BBARHERT
year ended 30 June 2022 under the Share Option Scheme are SIETHEREZBBEHNT
as follows:
Adjusted
exercise price
per share due Outstanding at

to Rights lssue  Outstanding at Exercised/ 30 June 2021 Exercised/
Note j) 1July2020 cancelled/lapsed  and 1 July 2021 cancelled/lapsed  Outstanding at

Name or category Exercisable period RiRTHE H2020F  during the year R2021F6A30R  during the year 30 June 2022

of participants ~ Date of grant  (hoth dates inclusive) Bxerciseprice  ZSRITEE TRE ERERE/ ROUETAIE ERBRE/ 2022868308

paE#2980 REAH 8 (BEERRR) fifeR ) HAGE  BEE/&N HAGE  BEE/&N HAfE

HK$ HKS
AT AT

Directors:

gz

Mr. Zhao Wenging 6 December 2018 6 December 2018 to 5 December 2023

ERRE 2018E12A68 2018512760 2202312758 0.1084 009736 20,268,042 - 20,068,042 - 2,268,042

6 December 2019 to 5 December 2023
01912768 22023512758 0.1084 0.09736 22,268,041 - 22,208,041 - 22,268,041
6 December 2020 to 5 December 2023
N20%12A68 22023512758 0.1084 0.00736 22,268,041 - 22,208,041 - 22,268,041
Mr. Huang Dongfeng 6 December 2018 6 December 2018 1o § December 2023
ERALE 018512768 2018512768 22023E1275H 0.1084 0.09736 22,268,042 - 22,268,042 - 22,068,042
6 December 2019 to 5 December 2023
201951268 22023512758 0.1084 0.09736 22,268,041 - 22,068,041 - 22,268,041
6 December 2020 to 5 December 2023
2020512 A68 22023512758 0.1084 0.09736 22,268,041 - 22,068,041 - 22,268,041
133,608,248 - 133,608,248 - 133,608,248
Employees 6 December 2018 6 December 2018 to 5 December 2023
& 018F12868  2018F12768 22023512758 0.1084 0.09736 06,804,123 - 66,804,123 (18,927,839) 47,876,288
6 December 2019 to 5 December 2023
2019512 68 2202312558 0.1084 0.09736 06,804,124 - 66,804,124 (17,814433) 48,989,691
6 December 2020 to 5 December 2023
020512868 2202312758 0.1084 0.09736 06,804,123 - 66,804,123 (18,927,83) 47,876,288
200412,370 - 200412,370 55,670,103) 144,782,267
334,020,618 - 334,020,618 5,670,103) 278,350,515

Exercisable at the end of the year REET TR 334020618 278,350,515

Weighted average exercise price METHRE 0,073 00073 00973

Notes: Maz -

()  As a result of the rights issue which was completed on () BREREE RK2019F4H23H 5%
23 April 2019, the exercise price of the share options was B BERRE 2 TTEEE RIZERE
adjusted from HK$0.1084 to HK$0.09736 under the Share sHE| & ETHAR B %E17.03(13)1& B B
Option Scheme and the supplementary guidance regarding R B R M 2 17 7 78 5| 5 0.108478
adjustment of share options under Rule 17.03(13) of the JLHEEZE0.09736/8 70 ° ARITF G
Listing Rules. The number of shares of the Company that BEITEEETETZARRRS
will fall to be issued upon exercise of the outstanding share HEMNEELEERE -
options were also adjusted accordingly.

(i) During the year ended 30 June 2022, 55,670,103 (i) #,ZE202246H30H ItF E
share options have lapsed and share options reserve of 55,670,103 ik #E £ K 70 - B AR
approximately HK$1,441,000 has been transferred to W 18 491,441,000 70 B AH FE 8
accumulated losses accordingly. No share options are granted ANZETEE - 8 £2022F6 A30H
or exercised during the year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: nil). WFE - WER T HITEEKRRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The binomial option pricing model was used to estimate the
fair value of the share options. The variables and assumptions
used in computing the fair value of the share options are based
on the independent professional valuer’s best estimate. The
value of a share option varies with different variables and certain
subjective assumptions. The estimated fair value of the share
options on their respective grant dates are as follows:

FmEMBHRRMET )

B E 20226 H30H I FIE

36.

BRETE (E)

“IEA R BER D AINME R B IR E
ZRFE - AERREATERRZE
ERBRRVENBIEEMGEMZ HE
et - BREZEESRETAZER
ETIEMRRMED BRENSEZ
REBR#MZEFRFEAT

Fair value on

Exercisable period grant date
Share option type  Grant date (both dates inclusive) REH A
BREER ®EBH TEH(EFEEWA) ZAFE
HK$
BT
Directors 6 December 2018 6 December 2018 to 5 December 2023 0.03398
5% 201812 56H 2018412 A6H £2023% 12 A5H
6 December 2019 to 5 December 2023 0.03585
201912 A6 H £2023F 12 A5H
6 December 2020 to 5 December 2023 0.03727
202012 A6 H £2023F 12 A5H
Employees 6 December 2018 6 December 2018 to 5 December 2023 0.02380
&8 2018F12A86H 201812 A6H £2023F12A85H
6 December 2019 to 5 December 2023 0.02931
2019412 A6H £2023%12 A5H
6 December 2020 to 5 December 2023 0.03339

2020F12 A6 H £2023F 12 H5H

Share option type

EBRESR
Directors Employees
B=F EE
Share price on grant date RIFE B2 R E HK$0.104 HK$0.104
0.1047% 7T 0.1047% 7T
Exercise price on grant date RELHBEZITEE HK$0.1084 HK$0.1084
0.1084% 7T 0.10847% 7T
Volatility 8 41.529% 41.529%
Expected life TEETF 5 years 5 years
5% 5%
Risk-free rate o [ B R 2.150% 2.150%

Volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of
comparable companies with business natures and operations
similar to the Company over the previous five years.

The options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted
average remaining contractual life of approximately 1.4 years
(2021: approximately 2.4 years).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

37. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, there were no other material non-
cash transactions during the year ended 30 June 2022.

R MRS AR M R ()

£ 202246 F30H 1 F/E
FERERERHE

37.

(a)

TEHFRERS

BRZESRAMBRREMIBD AT
WEEI B E2022F6H30H
HFETEEMBERIFBERS -

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) METEBHFEEABZIHE
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRFMUAEBERETHIELE
arising from financing activities, including both cash 2EaEEY PREESKIERS
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing FH o mMEEHNEECBERE
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future B BERAEEGEER R
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated ERDEARMEEYANERER
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing ENHEREIAKBRESRE -
activities.
Amount due
to a related
party Lease Interest
FEf@H 5 Borrowings liabilities  payables Total
AE B HEAE ERFE Mt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 July 2021 M2021F7H1H 213,359 293,760 104,212 15,464 626,795
Changes in cash flows RenE® 63,379 68,148 (7,345) (19,270) 104,912
Non-cash changes FEEEH
New lease entered HMEHE - - 1,392 - 1,392
Repayment of lease LA S 85 7 Uk AT BT /8
liabilities by offsetting NAEZHIBEEE
the amount due roma  HE&E
former subsidiary - - (4,288) (8,705) (12,993)
Termination of lease RIEAE B
agreement - - (374) - (374)
Imputed interest R B Football
arising on interest- LeagueZ & B f&
free borrowings from RZHERE
Football League - 3,071 - (8,071) -
Interest expenses MEZH - - - 25,361 25,361
Exchange Difference EHER (29,743) (15,830) (9,831) (408) (55,812)
At 30 June 2022 120226 A30H 246,995 349,149 83,766 9,371 689,281

F 3 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 1 43 .



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

37. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (Continued)

FmEMBHRRMET )

B E 20226 H30H I FIE
37. BEREHRERMTE (&)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) MEITEFELEEEZYHE(F)
activities (Continued)
Amount
due to a
related
party Lease Interest
FE{tB8% 5 Borrowings liabilites  payables Total
FIE BX HESE EMAFE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET FHT
At 30 June 2020 and 202046 A30H
1 July 2020 K2020%7A18 - 487,442 29,353 18,130 534,925
Changes in cash flows BeRegH 24,805 (46,912) (6,570) (32,940) (61,617)
Non-cash changes *kHE&EH
Repayment of loan by FBRRMHABEE
share subscriptions B3 - (139,281) - - (139,281)
Payment of interest BEBRMNAEZ
payables by share FE
subscriptions - - - (713) (713)
Termination of lease RIFHEERE
agreement - - (116) - (116)
Acquisition of W8 A A
subsidiaries - 1,475 178 - 1,653
Disposal of subsidiaries  H &K B A A (39,531) (18,239) (2,469) - (60,239)
Disposal of subsidiaries & K B A &
without loss of control #4515 4l 4 222,615 - - - 222,615
New lease entered HEIHE - - 79,174 - 79,174
Interest expenses MELZH - - - 30,675 30,675
Exchange Difference EHER 5,470 9,275 4,662 312 19,719
At 30 June 2021 1202126 4308 213,359 293,760 104,212 15,464 626,795
38. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 38. EEEBEH

As at 30 June 2022, certain bank credit facilities made available
to BCFC were secured by a fixed charge over a specific bank
deposit account of BCFC held with the bank. The balance on
this bank deposit account was GBP800,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,616,000) (2021: GBP800,000 which was
equivalent to approximately HK$8,600,000). In addition, the
Group’s transfer fee receivables from other football clubs with a
carrying amount of GBP5,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$47,600,000) (2021: GBP15,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$161,250,000)) as at 30 June 2022 were
pledged to secure bank borrowings of the Group.
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M20229F6A30H * BCFCZ & TR
TRE5EE JSABCFCRIBTHE F
BITEREPHEERCIEREA -
2R 1717 3R P # %8 A800,000H
(B ZE R 497,616,000 7T) (20214 :
800,000 £ (8 5 7 498,600,000
TL)) o AN REBRTE RN
7R 5 [E 202266 A30H 2 fE U H fth
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

39.

40.

COMMITMENTS
Operating lease arrangements
The Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment properties. At the end of
reporting period, the future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are receivables as follows:

R MRS AR M R ()

B E20220F6 H30H 1FF/E
39. AiE
mEHERH
K EEFER A

AEBEHERREME - RBEHK
TRIBHKZMOE T 2 BBCR K RKIE
BONKERET :

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Within one year —F RN 28,181 28,181
After one year but within five years —FRERAFA 28,181 56,362
56,362 84,543

Operating lease income represents rental receivables by the
Group for its investment properties. Leases are negotiated for
a term of three years and rentals are fixed over the lease terms
and do not include contingent rentals.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are
calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages subject to a monthly
maximum amount of contribution of HK$1,500 per employee
and vest fully with employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

In addition to participating in national insurance contribution
for employees in the UK, the Group also participates in a
defined contribution scheme for the benefits of its employees.
All the contributions are based on a certain percentage of the
employee’s salary and are charged to the income statement
as incurred and have no further obligation for post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions made.

40.

REHEWAEASEREREMEE
WzHle - EEOBMR=F " miEE
HAEeREE A TEREAAER -

RIRERFHE

AEBERERLEHERRE A EERD
RITBEEERBERERERL —HRH
MRBEeFE (TRESFE]) - A&
Biz#e kT EMS%MA®ED & M
FoHEEREESARSHNG1,500
BT BRABREESTEEHHAER
HEBES -

BREENEEZSEBFERBRHNIN
REBETAEREERMN 28R EHR/KE

g ARFEREEIENETAED
HEE - WREERRKERAR - &
BFEEREFRIN - BAERBRRNERN
EEREMEL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
40. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES (Continued)

41.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary established in the
PRC are members of a central pension scheme operated by
the local municipal government. This subsidiary is required to
contribute certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and wages to the central pension scheme to fund the retirement
benefits. The local municipal government undertakes to assume
the retirement benefits obligations of all existing and future
retired employees of this subsidiary. The only obligation of this
subsidiary with respect to the central pension scheme is to
meet the required contributions under the scheme.

The Group’s subsidiary established in Japan participates in
public pension managed by the government or relevant public
entity and provide additional benefits to the basic pension
plan for income as a form of social security. This subsidiary is
required to contribute certain percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and wages to the public pension scheme to fund
the retirement benefits.

No forfeited contributions may be used by the employers to
reduce the existing level of contribution for the abovementioned
retirement benefit schemes.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group made
contributions to the retirement benefit schemes amounting
to approximately HK$37,941,000 (2021: approximately
HK$38,621,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Player transfer costs

As at 30 June 2022, under the terms of certain contracts with
other football clubs in respect of player transfers, additional
player transfer cost would become payable if certain specific
conditions are met. The maximum amount not provided that
could be payable in respect of the transfers up to 30 June 2022
was approximately HK$67,315,000 (equivalent to approximately
GBP7,071,000) (2021: approximately HK$82,782,000
(equivalent to approximately GBP7,701,000)).
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HREMBHRRMET )

B E 20226 H30H I FIE
40. BINERIGHE (&)

41.

AEEPENBARZEE2EREH
MERAFLE 2R RRAEFHE - LB
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
42. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(a)

In addition to the transactions and balances detailed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had the following transactions and balances with
related parties during the year:

()  During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group
received rental income in relation of a supplemental
agreement and a master lease agreement entered
into with Ever Depot, a substantial Shareholder,
for US$15 per sgm as agreed by both parties.
Rental income recorded for the year amount to
approximately HK$28,179,000 (2021: approximately
HK$28,179,000);

(i) During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group
incurred interest expenses of approximately
HK$2,042,000 (2021: approximately HK$2,720,000)
to Trillion Trophy;

(i)  During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group
incurred interest expenses of approximately
HK$3,290,000 (2021: approximately HK$663,000) to
Oriental Rainbow;

(iv) During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group
incurred interest expenses of approximately
HK$462,000 (2021: approximately HK$462,000) to
GRED;

(v) During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group
incurred interest expenses of approximately
HK$174,000 (2021: nil) to Great Summit;

(vi) During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group
recorded football club segment compensation in
relation of shareholders’ agreement entered into with
Oriental Rainbow, a non-controlling shareholder of
subsidiaries of the Group. Football club compensation
recorded for the year amounted to approximately
HK$201,318,000 (2021: nil);

(vij As at 30 June 2022, the outstanding principal
amount and interest payable to Trillion Trophy were
approximately HK$44,685,000 (2021: approximately
HK$49,200,000) and approximately HK$2,042,000
(2021: approximately HK$485,000) respectively;

R MRS AR M R ()

B 220226 A30H IF FE

42, BEARXBIRER
(a) BAGAETEREREMIED T
MR P REHIN REERE
NERREATHUTS S R

(i

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

#H E20229F6A300 Ik F
B AEBEKE(EER
R EMxipzEREHEER
EOREFHMERBEER
KisELWEL  FR A
& W A %15 #928,179,00078
7L (20214 : #928,179,000
BIT)

H E2022%6A30H It F
E AEBAXMNTHBE
492,042,000 T T
Trillion Trophy (20214 : #J
2,720,000/ 7))

H E2022F6H30H IFF
E - AEBAEINAANEX
it 493,290,000 ;T ¥ R &
(20214 : 49663,000/87T) :

B Z=2022%6A301 Ik F
B AREAXMNREXEH
#7462,000/% 7T (20214F : 4Y
462,000/ 7T) FGRED

H E=2022%6A308 IFF
- AEEAZNHESH
#9174,000/ 7T (20214 :
1) Folig

B Z=2022%F6 A301 Ik F
B AEEERE (HBAF
ZIEFERRAR W) 7] 7 AR R
R EREBREERE S
HWE FR kg8
18 £% 18 49201,318,000/% 7T
(20214 : #&®) :

K2022F6A30H BT
Trillion TrophyZ REEARE
K 7 B 5 Bl 4944,685,000%
JC (20214F : #749,200,000
B IT) & 492,042,000 7T
(20214 : #9485,000/87T) :
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

42. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(Continued)

(@) (Continued)

43.

(b)

(viii)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

As at 30 June 2022, the lease liability to GRED
was approximately HK$4,622,000 (equivalent to
approximately US$592,500) (2021: approximately
HK$4,625,000, equivalent to approximately
US$593,000);

As at 30 June 2022, the interest payable to GRED
was approximately HK$273,000 (2021: approximately
HK$274,000);

As at 30 June 2022, the outstanding principal
amount and interest payable to Oriental Rainbow
were approximately HK$129,712,000 (2021: nil) and
approximately HK$3,290,000 (2021: nil) respectively;

As at 30 June 2022, the expected football club
segment compensation receivable from Oriental
Rainbow was approximately HK$184,384,000
(equivalent to approximately GBP19,368,000) (2021:
nil);

As at 30 June 2022, the outstanding principal
amount and interest payable to Great Summit
were approximately HK$58,652,000 (2021: nil) and
approximately HK$174,000 (2021: nil) respectively;
and

As at 30 June 2022, the amount due to Oriental
Rainbow was approximately HK$246,995,000 (2021:
approximately HK$213,359,000).

Key management compensation

Members of key management personnel during the year
comprised only of the Directors whose remuneration is set
out in note 15.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this report, up to the date of this report,
there was no significant event relevant to the business or
financial performance of the Group that come to the attention of
the Directors after the year ended 30 June 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

AS AT 30 JUNE

R MRS AR M R ()

B F20229F6 H30H IFF/E

44, AR T)N6A30E 2B BEMRRE

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RHtB AR 2 RE - =
Total non-current assets IERBEELTE - -
Current assets REBEE
Deposits, prepayments and e ANZREREMERFIE
other receivables 185,122 716
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE U BT BB A R FUB 481,622 485,251
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRER S 14,852 18,860
Total current assets MEEERE 681,596 504,827
Current liabilities RBEE
Accruals and other payables FEET IR K E i FE A 5RIR 7,372 2,863
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEATBT /B R B RIA 85,530 50,328
Borrowings B® - 49,200
Total current liabilities mEBBRERR 92,902 102,391
Net current assets REBEEFRE 588,694 402,436
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Borrowings B 233,049 -
Total non-current liabilities JEMBEERE 233,049 -
NET ASSETS EEFRHE 355,645 402,436
Capital and reserves BEXR#E
Share capital f% 72X 192,890 192,890
Reserves i 162,755 209,546
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 355,645 402,436

F 3 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 1 49 .



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY EFEMBHME

For the year ended 30 June

BZ6A30BILEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Results ES 2022 20215 2020F 2019F 20184

HK$7000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET FET

Revenue Wezs 220,939 165,023 231,529 210,437 208,013

Loss before taxation BRIAIEE (107,768) (112,418 (271,683) (363,050) (437,968)

Income tax credit/(expense) FrERiEe,/ (1) 1 589 5,199 (1,640 266

Loss for the year KEEFE (107,767 (111,829) (266,484) (364,690) (437,702)
Loss for the year attributable to: E(EAEEER

Owners of the Company ARRHEAA (40,661) (74,232) (260,484) (360,927 (425,027)

Non-controlling interests IR (67,106) (37,597) (6,000) (3,763) (12,675)

(107,767 (111,829) (266,484) (364,690) (437,702)

At 30 June
R6A30H

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Assets and liabilities BERAR 2022 20215 2020%F 2019F 2018%F

HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FHET FHET FET

Total assets EEAE 1,017,804 1,076,761 1,061,515 1,084,515 949,815

Total liabilities BEEE (794,991) (771,947) (761,286) (459,008) (383,805)

Net assets BEFH 222,813 304,814 300,229 575,509 566,010

Equity attributable to: FEh R -

Owners of the Company AREEEA 488,010 535,301 326,747 596,941 583,235

Non-controlling interests RS (265,197) (230,487 (26,518) (21,432) (17,225)

Total equity BREE 222,813 304,814 300,229 575,509 566,010
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES TEYPEMR

The following table sets forth the Group’s major properties as at 30 T &I ANEBER20224F6 A30B 2 &)
June 2022: £

PROPERTIES IN CAMBODIA

Properties held for investment

RIFRIE

Category of The Group’s

Location Usage the lease term interest
b B Jicked HEER AEE TG ER
Phnom Penh City Center No. 58, Street R8,  Commercial Long-term 100%

Sangkat Srah Chak, Khan Doun Penh, Phnom P2 KH

Penh, Cambodia
RIFESEMEETH O No. 58, Street RS,

Sangkat Srah Chak, Khan Doun Penh
Units 501, 502, 503, 503A, 505, 506, 507, Residential/ Freehold 100%

508, 601, 602, 603, 603A, 605, 606, 607, Commercial KA

608, 701, 702, 703, 703A, 705, 706, 707, f{X= /%

708, 801, 802, 803, 803A, 805, 806, 807,
808, 901, 902, 903, 903A, 905, 906, 907,
908, 1001, 1002, 1003, 1003A, 1005, 1006,
1007, 1008, 1101, 1102, 1103, 1103A, 1105,
1106, 1107, 1108, 1201, 1202, 1203, 1203A,
1205, 1206, 1207, 1208 and portion of the
2-storey commercial podium adjacent to the
main building, Block C of One Park, Phnom
Penh City Center, No. 58, Street R8, Sangkat
Srah Chak, Khan Doun Penh, Phnom Penh,
Cambodia

RIFELERNSETH L, No. 58, Street RS,
Sangkat Srah Chak, Khan Doun Penh, €%
5% C FEZE 501, 502, 503, 503A, 505, 506, 507,
508, 601, 602, 603, 603A, 605, 606, 607,
608, 701, 702, 703, 7038A, 705, 706, 707,
708, 801, 802, 803, 803A, 805, 806, 807,
808, 901, 902, 903, 903A, 905, 906, 907,
908, 1001, 1002, 1003, 1003A, 1005, 10086,
1007, 1008, 1101, 1102, 1103, 1103A, 1105,
1106, 1107, 1108, 1201, 1202, 1203, 1203A,
1205, 1206, 1207, 1208 = &k EFIZF# M2 [E
= E R ERD
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES FEYEM X
(Continued) (%)

Category of
Location Usage the lease term

ith B Jiik:S e

The Group’s
interest

A& B

Units 301, 302, 303, 303A, 305, 306, 307, 308, Residential/ Long-term

1501, 1502, 1503, 1503A, 1505, 1506, 1507, Commercial 3=t
1508, 1601, 1602, 1603, 1603A, 1605, 1606, {E= HH*
1607, 1608, 1701, 1702, 1703, 1703A, 1705,
1706, 1707, 1708 and portion of the podium
and corridor connected to the main building,
Block C of One Park, Phnom Penh City Center,
No. 58, Street R8, Sangkat Srah Chak, Khan
Doun Penh, Phnom Penh, Cambodia

RIFELEMNSEMP L, No. 58, Street RS,
Sangkat Srah Chak, Khan Doun Penh, &%
5% C FEZ5 301, 302, 303, 303A, 305, 306, 307,
308, 1501, 1502, 1503, 1503A, 1505, 15086,
1507, 1508, 1601, 1602, 1603, 1603A, 1605,
1606, 1607, 1608, 1701, 1702, 1703, 1703A,
1705, 1706, 1707, 1708 Z R X RA A H1E
K 7€ FRED 1A

G/F and M/F, Block C of One Park, Phnom  Commercial Long-term
Penh City Center, No. 58, Street R8, Sangkat 2 3=t
Srah Chak, Khan Doun Penh, Phnom Penh,
Cambodia
RiFELENSEMP L, No. 58, Street RS,
Sangkat Srah Chak, Khan Doun Penh, €%
S5 C B TN R E

. ‘I 5 2 BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED {4885 &= R AR A S

100%

100%



Birmingham Sports Holdings Limited
TRRBEEZRERL A

31/F., Vertical Sq, No. 28 Heung Yip Road,
Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong
BREMNEEE28REHE3E

Tel E&E: (852) 2548 2928
Fax E&: (852) 2548 2782
Website #E: www.bshl.com.hk




	COVER
	CONTENTS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	ABBREVIATIONS
	CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
	REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
	SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES
	BACK COVER

